1	BEFORE THE STATE OF INDIANA
2	CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION
3	
4	
5	PUBLIC MEETING OF FEBRUARY 19, 2024
6	
7	
8	
9	PROCEEDI NGS
10	in the above-captioned matter, before the Indiana
11	Civil Rights Commission, Adrianne L. Slash,
12	Chairperson, taken before me, Heather S. Orbaugh,
13	a Notary Public in and for the County of Boone,
14	State of Indiana, CCR: LA, at the Indiana
15	Government Center North, 100 North Senate Avenue,
16	Room N300, Indianapolis, Indiana, on Monday,
17	February 19, 2024, at 1:00 p.m.
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	ACCUDATE DEDODTING OF INDIANA
24	ACCURATE REPORTING OF INDIANA 543 Ponds Pointe Drive
25	Carmel, Indiana 46032 (317) 848-0088
26	

1	APPEARANCES
2	
3	COMMISSION MEMBERS:
4	Adrianne L. Slash, Chairperson
5	Terry Tolliver Holli Harrington
6	Sue Silberberg
7	INDIANA CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION
8	By David Fleischhacker, Deputy Director Indiana Government Center North
9	100 North Senate Avenue, Room N300
10	Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 On behalf of the Commission.
11	COMMISSION STAFF PRESENT:
12	
13	Michael Lostutter Christina Afuwape
14	Paris Walton
15	
16	ALSO PRESENT:
17	Lyndsay Ignasiak, Assist Indiana
18	Jeremy English, Complainant
19	Dustin Robinson, Complainant
20	Sarah Doty, Brookdale Senior Living
21	Kimberly Addair, Complainant
22	Leonard Addair
23	
24	
25	

## 1: 14 PM

## FEBRUARY 19, 2024

\_ \_ \_

CHAIRPERSON SLASH: It is 1:08 on February 19, 2024, I will call this Commission meeting to order. We have visually established quorum but do we have to --

MR. LOSTUTTER: Correct. I will first off read my little spiel here. Please be advised that no party will be allowed to speak directly to the Commission during any Commission meeting except during a previously scheduled oral argument.

Concerning appeals, Commissioners will make their initial determination based on the Complaint, the Notice of Finding, the Appeal, and the final investigative report. You must not address the commission members except and unless you are addressed directly by them.

If you have any questions about your case, please wait to speak to the docket clerk until after the Commission meeting. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON SLASH: Thank you.

MR. LOSTUTTER: And as for our agenda, we probably better make sure we have

```
quorum established here so we will call the role.
 1
 2
     Commissioner Silberberg?
 3
                   MS. SILBERBERG:
                                     Aye.
 4
                   MR.
                       LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
 5
     Harri son?
 6
                   MR. FLEI SCHHACKER:
                                        Harri ngton.
 7
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Harrington, I'm
 8
     sorry.
 9
                   MS. HARRINGTON:
                                     Aye.
10
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
11
     Tolliver?
12
                   MR. TOLLIVER:
                                   Here.
13
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Chair Slash?
14
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Present.
15
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Sorry for that
16
    mistake, I was thinking of our illustrious
17
    president from the state.
18
                    CHAIR SLASH:
                                  We will announce the
19
     agenda.
20
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    We are going to
21
    make a little switch. We are going to move the
22
     Director's Report to the end of the meeting
23
     there, that will help facilitate Commissioner
24
     Harrington needing to depart as soon as all parts
25
     that need her participation in.
```

We will first do old business which will involve appeals, a few of which have oral arguments. We will then address new business assigning new appeals to commissioners. then have a review of ALJ decisions and orders 6 followed by the ALJ decisions that are automatically confirmed, and then the Director's 8 Report. 9 CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. since we came in a little late, can we note who is in the room and who we have on the phone? MR. LOSTUTTER: Well, we have Christina on the phone, and in the room we have I 14 believe Dustin Robinson, one of our oral argument participants. We have a Jeremy English, and we 16 have the attorney representing Brookdale Senior We have Kimberly Addair and her husband. Li vi ng. 18 MR. ADDALR: Father. 19

We will

And

1

2

3

4

5

7

10

11

12

13

15

17

20

21

22

23

24

25

MR. LOSTUTTER: Father, I am And we have the attorney I believe representing Assist Indiana. And I believe that covers it as far as people who are here.

MR. FLELSCHHACKER: And we have Paris Walton from the Indiana Civil Rights Commission.

1 CHAIR SLASH: Thank you very much. 2 We will go ahead and we will begin. The first 3 case that we have listed, do I need to read it 4 since we are continuing it? MR. LOSTUTTER: You don't have to 5 6 there. 7 MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Just read it. 8 Okay. I will read CHAIR SLASH: 9 it just for the record. The case of Melvin 10 Lipscomb versus Meijer Case PAra23040381. That 11 case has been continued to the March meeting. 12 The next case, Tawanda Woods versus 13 Beacon Pointe Apartments, Case HOha23110879. 14 That case was assigned to Commissioner Jackson. 15 Did he send a recommendation ahead? 16 MR. LOSTUTTER: No, he did not. 17 CHAIR SLASH: Okay. On that point 18 I will continue that one until next month as 19 well. The next case. Dustin Robinson versus T&T 20 Collision, Case EMha23050437. That case is 21 continued from last month and we did hear a bit 22 last month but today --23 MR. ROBINSON: I am all prepared. 24 CHAIR SLASH: You are well 25 prepared? Okay. Very good. So we will have an

oral argument. We have both -- we have -- do we have the Respondent as well?

MR. LOSTUTTER: No.

CHAIR SLASH: Okay. Well, if that's the case we will give you five minutes, then if any of the Commissioners have any questions, they will ask you questions if they have them and then we will move forward.

MR. ROBINSON: Okay.

CHAIR SLASH: Okay.

MR. ROBINSON: I still need to appeal, the reason why I appealed it was for, one, is the Respondent never responded at all to any kind of a call, E-mail, letters, anything of that nature, so therefore the fact of findings was based off of basically everything I had to say, which was very -- if you look at the initial intake, it was just a short paragraph or so of my statement of I felt that I was wrongfully terminated for my disability, which I was, because I broke my elbow in January 22 of 2023.

I have all the documentation of all that,

I have all the documentation of text messages of

me being in contact with my supervisor at the

time, which is the one that let me in the

building that morning, and I played -- I mean it was hard to try to even get any information out of him. He basically ignored me for two weeks to try to get Worker's Comp info in order to see ortho, you know, to move further on with my care. So therefore I got an attorney.

So once I got the attorney they basically really turned their back on me and it was just closed doors from there. And then I had to wait until the adjustment of claim hearing which was March 29th which is what you will see on the fact of findings of determination date.

I was not notified or nothing at all until then by my attorney after the adjustment of claim hearing. That's when the story came about that I was fired or terminated, I am sorry, 13 days prior to the incident that occurred or allegedly occurred is what their statement was.

So therefore, yeah, I was not aware that I was terminated the whole time and that's why in their own thing I told them that I was still able to work because I am a painter and I use my right hand and I could always, you know, work around and accommodate, you know, to work.

The fact of findings says basically the

Respondent, the way they wrote it as if I basically just took an absence -- a leave of absence for such a great amount of time to where they had no choice but to terminate me was their reasoning in the fact of findings.

So that's why I appealed that because that is false all the way because I did notify them, I kept in contact with them, I have got all the documentation, I have got all the medical records, you know, that relieves me from work duty until further notice from orthopedics and doctors, which they did hold up on me because of the fact that, you know, they failed to give me any information of work comp insurance.

Come to find out the reason why, they had no coverage. So that's why they -- I basically opened a can of worms on them in a sense and, you know, not meaning to or anything on purpose, but it just, it happened. So they probably didn't like that too well, insurance company also, and now it is a battle between them two and then here I am without a job because it is illegal to terminate somebody that is out on, you know, for worker's compensation purposes and therefore I lost my home, I am actually the home I am in now

Is getting sold out from under me, I mean I have lost so many things during this time frame it is unreal. I mean I owe a \$12,000 tool bill that I cannot even pay. I mean I can't even pay my rent. My water is going to be shut off today matter of fact. I mean it's been rough.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

And I honestly feel, too, from this happening if I were to use them as a reference being he is my last employer that I have had, so that would be a big time gap if I were to not include him, you know. So whenever I go to try to get employment, I honestly feel that has hindered me so much because I have never ever in my life had a problem -- or my career, I am sorry, with the way my resume and everything is, my background, getting employment. But ever since this has happened, it has always been they look into it real good and then I get a call or something, oh, no, sorry, we found a better candidate or they kind of try to let me down softly, I quess.

So it's been a rough road and I mean it ain't right at all for sure. And like I said, with the fact of findings being based off of that, it is like it is fictitious really, it is

like I understand you have got to do something, you got to try to make a story off of that, but you can't really make factual comments off of somebody that is not even responding, that's not even there, you know, in person.

So that kind of just throws my story completely off to make me look like I am in the wrong in a sense, you know. So that's the reason why I appealed it because it was a complete 180 of really the factual basis of what happened. And like I said, I do have all the paperwork, documentation, everything that would back it up one hundred percent.

CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. Do any commissioners have any questions?

question. I do have a comment. I don't think that we have jurisdiction over the case. It is not like it is -- it is not a disability under the law because it is a broken bone and based on Mr. Robinson's testimony that he was able to work, I don't think it impaired one or more of life's major activities so I think that the Commission should dismiss it.

CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. Any

1 other commissioner questions? Commissioner 2 Silberberg, do you have any questions for 3 Mr. Robinson? 4 COMM. SILBERBERG: I can't hear 5 very well right now. 6 CHAIR SLASH: Okay. Thank you 7 very much. Okay. Well, with that being stated, 8 thank you so much for coming back and --9 MR. ROBINSON: Can I say 10 something? 11 CHAIR SLASH: Sure. 12 MR. ROBINSON: When I said about 13 the disability part, when I initially called for 14 the intake I honestly asked the guy if I had a 15 claim, an honest claim, and I explained to him 16 just as I explained to you and I made sure 17 because I didn't want to waste anybody's time, 18 and when I explained to him exactly what had 19 happened was, there is all kinds of different 20 ways like retaliation, there is this, there is 21 that, as far as, you know, discrimination or 22 wrongful termination. 23 I didn't know what I guidelines or 24 whatever I would fall under, you know, I just --

what I explained to him and I kind of left it in

his hands, since I wasn't coming after him set in stone as it being a disability, you know. I do have a disability from my knee, I fall into that category with that, yes, but that was my biggest concern, too, also, was the way that that was worded in there, you know.

Because I, again, I questioned the man and, you know, trusted him that he would put me in the right direction I guess you could say because it was like the gentleman here just said, you know, that it is not under a disability type thing, you know. And I am only saying that on myself as far as I would work through it because that's just what I do, I have to make a living, you know, even if the doctor tells me I don't or I am not supposed to work, I an one that will try to push through it, you know.

But I was terminated. I mean I wasn't even notified until three months later about it and they faked it and told me like I was employed and still had a job the whole time.

CHAIRPERSON SLASH: Thank you.

And thank you for coming back and thank you for seeing things through the course. Unfortunately I am going to have to agree with the fact that

1 the recommendation that there is no probable 2 cause under the Indiana Civil Rights law. And so 3 that would be my recommendation to the Commission 4 and hearing no further questions in alignment 5 that the comment that was already previously 6 made, is there a motion? 7 COMM. TOLLIVER: I would move to 8 dismiss the Complaint subject to the jurisdiction 9 rul e. 10 CHAIR SLASH: Do we have that as 11 an option? 12 COMM. HARRINGTON: Could you 13 repeat? I am sorry. 14 MR. FLEISCHHACKER: You are either 15 affirming or rejecting the Notice of Finding. 16 COMM. TOLLIVER: I would move that 17 we remand to the Civil Rights Commission to 18 dismiss for no jurisdiction. 19 COMM. HARRINGTON: Second. 20 CHAIR SLASH: Okay. The motion 21 was made, Commissioner Silberberg, that we remand 22 the case back to the Civil Rights Commission for 23 dismissal and the motion was seconded. Do you 24 have a question on that, Commissioner Silberberg?

COMM. SILBERBERG:

No.

```
1
                   CHAIRPERSON SLASH: Okay.
                                               Thank
 2
    you.
 3
                   MR. LOSTUTTER: We will call the
 4
     rol e.
            Commissioner Silberberg?
 5
                   COMM. SI LBERBERG:
                                       Aye.
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
 6
                                    Commissioner
 7
    Harri ngton?
 8
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Aye.
 9
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
    Tolliver?
10
11
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     Aye.
12
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Chair Slash?
13
                   CHAIR SLASH: Aye.
14
                   MR. LOSTUTTER: The ayes have it,
15
    four nothing.
16
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Thank you.
                                              And
17
     thank you again for bringing the case.
18
            0kay.
                    The next case, Jeremy English
19
    versus Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., Case
20
    EMha23080644. This case also is here for oral
21
                Do we have both parties?
    argument.
22
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Yes, we do.
23
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Thank you. Okay.
24
    So the way we will go is we will -- or do you
25
    want to explain?
```

MR. LOSTUTTER: We will have five 1 2 minutes for each side, for the Complainant and 3 for the Representative of the Respondent. And as 4 in the previous case, when the Complainant is 5 finished or his time expires, the commissioners 6 will ask questions and likewise for the 7 Respondent's representative. 8 MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Chair Slash, I 9 will have a timer here so that they can see it as 10 well. 11 I was CHAIR SLASH: Okay. 12 wondering about that since we have both parties 13 present. Thank you. 0kay. 14 You may begin, MR. LOSTUTTER: 15 si r. 16 MR. FNGLISH: Good afternoon. 17 appreciate your time today. I am here on appeal 18 based on -- I had filed the initial claim and 19 done the intake and spoken with the investigator 20 who said that he needed additional information. 21 I furnished the additional information that he 22 requested and the next -- sort of the next thing 23 I know without any further communication my claim 24 had been denied based on the fact that while what

my sales manager had said was improper, it was

not -- it did not fall under discrimination based on the rule of law that you go by.

So I do not believe that he received the information, the witness statements, my witnesses were not contacted regarding -- he requested statements based on how I was treated differently from my colleagues and my coworkers.

MR. LOSTUTTER: Sir, I don't want interrupt you, I have to. Could you speak just a little bit louder? I have got a message that they can't hear you.

MR. ENGLISH: So I actually wrote a statement. I know that I am not allowed to introduce any new evidence here, but it is based on the evidence that I submitted to the Commission or to the investigator prior. So if I am allowed to read that, I would appreciate it.

I never officially received a response as to whether or not the investigator had received my pack of information. He wanted me to E-mail it to him, so I did that. So I don't know if anyone can confirm that he did get it or did not, but I was unable to reach him to receive a response on that also.

So my name is Jeremy, I am here to

discuss my filing for the report of discrimination that was originally filed on 6-27-2023 with the federal EEOC through their website but was superceded by the filing of the Indiana EEOC Complaint because I could not actually get a date for an investigation, they were pushed out so far so I contacted the Indiana EEOC.

I am a 16-year Veteran of the United
States Army, honorably discharged with injuries
and disabilities that were incurred as a result
of my service and are documented as
service-connected disabilities. I received a
notice that stated that Brookdale -- basically
what I just told you. So I believe the
statements from the witnesses were not entered
into the file and the witnesses were not
contacted. I believe this to be true because the
witnesses were in fact not contacted.

After the initial statements regarding my
Veteran status as well as statements mocking my
hearing disability have been brought to light in
Complaint with human resources filed, not only
did Brookdale fail to address and remove me from
the direct contact pending investigation

regarding Ms. Beatty's statements and behavior.

My meetings with her became more frequent and her behavior became more discriminatory and belligerent.

I went from once a week scheduled meetings to multiple one-on-one meetings with her. I was also subjected to increased morning meetings that would last upwards of 30 minutes where she would be allowed to belittle and abuse me until either I would have to leave the meeting or her boss would join to call and end the meeting on my behalf because of her behavior.

I was forced to do assignments over and over again and with each submission the rules changing. During meetings she would say post-filing the HR complaint, "Oh, I'm sorry, I didn't think you heard me." That was a very common thing that she would say. And all of these things gave me great anxiety to the point where I ended up having to go to the VA, had to have heart -- had to wear a heart monitor because I was having heart palpitations.

CHAIR SLASH: One minute.

MR. ENGLISH: So I applied for

different positions within the company that I was

qualified for to try and get out from under her management, which I was publicly mocked and I aughed at. I applied, I was never contacted, but whenever it would come up in our meetings, they would laugh at me. My direct supervisors would laugh at me.

After numerous complaints to my supervisor, Ashley, I was removed from the office and told that I would have to find somewhere. I had also filed a complaint because I have had back surgeries and I cannot stand for long periods of time. I was subsequently -- one of the reasons I was terminated was because I was standing up and I sat at a table that I wasn't supposed to; however, my office had been taken from me, I had no office and I had no table to sit at and so --

CHAIR SLASH: That's time.

MR. LOSTUTTER: Time.

CHAIR SLASH: Thank you.

MS. DOTY: My name is Sarah Doty,

I am here on behalf of Respondent Brookdale

Senior Living. I am here to argue that based on
the law and the fact of this complaint at issue,
the Commission correctly issued its no cause

finding which should be upheld. Brookdale did not discriminate against Mr. English and as a preliminary matter, Mr. English has raised several arguments and brought up several new facts here that are relevant to this appeal.

Respectfully now is not the time to introduce new grievances or petitions for reinvestigation of Mr. English's complaint against Brookdale. Mr. English submitted his complaints the same day that Brookdale terminated his employment and he had ample opportunity at that point to raise these grievances in his initial complaint or amend his complaint to add them during the course of the investigation. The arguments he has raised are untimely, not part of the appeal packet, and should not be considered in the Commission's decision today.

As stated in the Respondent's Statement of Position, Brookdale is proud to be an equal opportunity employer and does not tolerate discrimination or harassment. When Mr. English complained that on March 14, 2023, Ms. Beatty made a comment that he found offensive and believed to be related to his use of hearing aides, Brookdale's human resources department

immediately investigated and concluded that Ms.

Beatty's use of the phrase, "It is time to put our listening ears on," was a common phrase that was just used in a poor manner, especially since she had just learned I believe it was that day that he uses hearing aides to help with his disability.

Human resources coached Ms. Beatty at the conclusion of their investigation about these comments and on the importance of remaining professional. Mr. English did not complain about Ms. Beatty again. In other words, Brookdale took swift, appropriate, corrective action to address Mr. English's complaint and prevent further unwelcome comments.

Now, Mr. English has brought this

Complaint based on this isolated comment alone
and his apparent dissatisfaction with the outcome
we believe in the complaint he wishes or he
thought Ms. Beatty should be disciplined for the
comment. She was coached and the Commission
correctly found that there was no probable cause
to believe discriminatory practice occurred as he
has alleged. The comment itself was not severe
or pervasive and when Mr. English let Brookdale

know that the comment was unwelcome, it took corrective action.

The Commission also found Mr. English was not denied equal terms and conditions of employment and that the Commission correctly noted that Mr. English was unable to state how he was treated differently than those similarly situated to him who are not in his protected class, which is because he was not.

Even with the additional information he has raised today, should the Commission decide to consider it, "I didn't think you heard me," again, these kind of phrases while may have been poorly chosen, she might have been able to find a more I guess delicate way to put it if she did know that such comments were ones that he found to be insensitive or offensive to him, they do not amount to severe or pervasive, they do not amount to harassment or discrimination and he did not let Brookdale know about them; therefore, Brookdale respectfully requests that the Commission uphold its initial no cause finding and I welcome any questions you may have.

COMM. HARRINGTON: I do have a question. You made a comment that as his

1 supervisor, before she made the comment she did 2 not know he had hearing aides. 3 MS. DOTY: It is our understanding 4 based on the investigation that he had made a 5 passive comment referring to his hearing aides. 6 I believe there was something with blue tooth 7 input going into his hearing aides instead of 8 playing in the car, and that was her only 9 knowledge about his hearing impairment. 10 COMM. HARRINGTON: Okay. 11 Commissioner CHAIR SLASH: 12 Silberberg, do you have any questions? 13 COMM. SILBERBERG: No. 14 CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. No 15 questions from you as well? 16 COMM. TOLLIVER: No. 17 CHAIR SLASH: This case was 18 assigned to Commissioner Harrington. Do you have 19 a recommendation? 20 COMM. HARRINGTON: There are two 21 cases for issues so I want to make sure we 22 present on both. I just had a comment while the 23 comment was known and there is no evidence 24 whether she knew before that was presented, it is 25 not severe in just making the comment under those terms.

So with that on the first issue, I would affirm the no probable cause finding for that.

On the second issue, the question I had and was to go to the docket clerk was on the comment of verifying that additional information was submitted on time and reviewed by the investigator.

MR. LOSTUTTER: All evidence that would have gone to the investor would have been part of the packet there.

just saying there was -- I am trying to establish a timeline and it is not clear in here and so I just want to make sure there was an initial submittal and then there was a comment made that there was additional information and there was no response from the office. Is there a timeline to confirm that it was received on time?

MR. LOSTUTTER: I would have to go back and check with the investigator to make sure about that, but I mean that's how we would go about I believe establishing a timeline.

comm. HARRINGTON: So on the second issue I would propose to go back for

```
additional information just to verify, one, if
 1
 2
    additional information was provided within the
 3
    required timeframe and that that was reviewed as
 4
     that was one of the questions. And if it was,
 5
     then we can make the call based on verifying that
    information.
 6
 7
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  So your
 8
     recommendation is that on the first issue that
 9
     there -- that we affirm the deputy director's
10
     finding of no probable cause?
11
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Correct.
12
                   CHAIR SLASH: And on the second
    issue that you remand to verify timeline and
13
14
    continue to next month?
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
15
                                       Correct.
16
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Okay. Is there a
17
    motion?
18
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     So moved.
19
                   CHAIR SLASH: Is there a second?
20
                   COMM. SILBERBERG:
                                       Second.
21
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Thank you.
22
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    We will call the
23
    rol e.
            Commissioner Silberberg?
24
                   COMM. SILBERBERG:
                                       Aye.
25
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
```

```
Harri ngton?
 1
 2
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Aye.
 3
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
    Tolliver?
 4
 5
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     Aye.
                                    Chair Slash?
 6
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
 7
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Aye.
 8
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    The ayes have it.
 9
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  So for clarity, we
10
    moved on one but we will come back to the other
11
    after making one more look.
12
                   MR. ENGLISH:
                                  Thank you.
13
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  The next case,
14
    Kimberly Addair versus Assist Indiana, Inc., Case
15
    EMse22070363. We also have a party present for
16
    oral argument here today. This case was assigned
17
    to Commissioner Tolliver. And same format as
18
    before, would you like that repeated once more?
19
                   MS. ADDALR:
                                 No.
20
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  0kay.
                                         So we will
21
    begin with you and then we will hear from
22
    Respondent's attorney.
23
                   MS. ADDALR:
                                 Sure.
                                        0kay.
                                                Before
24
    I begin, I want to make sure that everybody can
25
    hear me.
```

CHAIR SLASH: Commissioner

Silberberg, can you hear?

COMM. SILBERBERG: Yes.

MS. ADDAIR: My name is Kimberly
Paige Addair and I am here today to speak on
behalf of my appeal, but I am not here for
myself, I am here for every single victim,
survivor, and non-survivor of sexual violence
whose voices are not able to be heard. As a
specialist in sexual violence victim and survivor
advocacy in case management, I knew going into
this whole thing that nothing would come of the
sexual harassment I experienced, a very sad
reality.

However, I was told by Andrea Contreras, intake specialist for the ICRC on July 22, 2022, that I, quote, "I have great news. We can do both sex and retaliation. Definitely send me a report and I will be in contact with you." I provided an exuberant amount of evidence and began the investigation process with Lacy Patterson, Civil Rights investigator with the ICRC. She tells me how brave she and the other women in the office think that I am for speaking up about the sexual harassment, how impressed she

and the other women are with my confidence, and how they are all rooting for me.

Moving forward, I do everything that I am asked by everyone who asks me, including discussing mediation, mediation dates with Debra Bluitt, an ADR mediator for the ICRC for months before Assist decided they no longer wanted to go to mediation.

This was yet another abuse tactic utilized by my abusers and enabled by the ICRC, but I digress. Fast forward to October 26, 2023, over a year later, I am informed by Tammy Bibbs, Employment Unit investor for the ICRC that the retaliation is out of the ICRC jurisdiction and there is nothing that can be done about it. Tammy went on to inform me that she did not review all of my evidence, specifically the recording I provided, because it wasn't really necessary. So just like Jenny Lee, CEO of Assist, Tammy did not listen to the recording.

While speaking with Ashim Singh, Tammy
Bibbs' supervisor, he informs me that the
retaliation is out of the jurisdiction of the
ICRC and agrees with me that I should have never
been told the literal complete opposite. He also

assured me that Tammy would review all evidence provided in its entirety, including the recording. I informed Ashim and Tammy both that the way my case has been handled was unfair and somewhere over the course of the almost year and a half the ICRC itself has demonstrated gross negligence and incompetence.

I stated to Ashim and continued to maintain that it is downright shameful seeing as how people come to the ICRC when they have been done wrong experience trauma. They don't need Civil Rights activists to make it worse.

Fast forward to December 23, 2023, a year and a half later, after filing a complaint with the ICRC decisions were finally made and opinions delivered, though I find myself confused as to why an opinion was delivered on a matter that is outside the jurisdiction of the ICRC, especially and solely if the evidence was not going to be reviewed in its entirety.

Again, just like Jenny Lee, Tammy Bibbs, and whoever else after that at the ICRC did not listen to the recording. The ICRC maintains in their opinion that I did not record the sexual harassment I was experiencing until after I was

coached on my poor job performance. The award for the ultimate gaslight of the century goes to the Civil Rights Commission. Congratulations.

I was invited to a meeting on April 28, 2022, entailing general discussion for my sexual harasser where I entered the meeting to ask if I am being fired, let go, asked to resign, suggested to leave, or if my job is at risk in any way, shape, or form, and I am told no by both my harasser and direct supervisor, Joe Cotterman. We have general seemingly good discussion, share laughs, and then shortly after my harasser begins utilizing his abuse tactics that I had grown extremely sick of, so I report the harassment, he scoffs and laughs in my face. I am instructed to work in the community and from home until May 3, 2022, when I am asked to return to speak to Jenny Lee.

When I return to speak to Jenny Lee, she informs me that I am no longer employed with Assist and that this decision was made prior to the meeting. Bottom line, we would not be sitting here if any single one of you would have just listened to the recording or if I had just pulled that Marilyn Monroe and worn my bra to

work. I debated if I would come here today, I debated if I would come here and stand in silence for five minutes to waste everyone's time --

CHAIR SLASH: One minute.

MS. ADDAIR: -- since the ICRC wasted a year and a half of mine. Ultimately I know that no matter what I came in here to say today or if I hadn't shown up at all, absolutely nothing changes and nothing can be done about the retaliation or the harassment even if you reverse the appeal. But after leaving here today I can confidently say that I did everything that I could do and exhausted all of my options, but unfortunately all of my options have also exhausted me.

I am also equally confident that the ICRC's one and a half star rating on Google speaks for itself. Again, I digress. But most importantly, it is 2024, we have to stop victim blaming. So despite a very disappointing overall outcome for me, I am thankful for the very privileged opportunity that I have to be able to speak and I do ask that the ICRC reconsider their deliberate opinion regarding the retaliation and uphold their stance that it is out of their

jurisdiction and adhere to that.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CHAIR SLASH: Thank you.

MS. ADDALR: You are welcome.

MS. I GNASI AK: Good afternoon. My name is Lyndsay Ignasiak and I am here on behalf of Assist Indiana. We would respectfully ask that you uphold the finding of no probable cause on all of the three issues in this case. Wi th regard to retaliation and jurisdiction, I believe the issue was a prior report to the Civil Rights Commission that it simply did not take place. You know, that -- not withstanding that fact, the analysis for the retaliation claim was given within the findings and no cause found even if there were jurisdiction, which the Commission found that there were not.

This is an individual who was within her 90-day probationary period with our non-profit organization that is dedicated to helping victims of sexual assault. Within that 90 days, you know, obviously high hopes for hires, but absolutely no work was performed by the Complainant. There is repeated documented evidence of not showing up for or asking to be excused from different events that had been

volunteered for.

I believe the Complainant was specifically hired to kind of start a human trafficking wing and once upon hire never attended a single meeting with the police force on the human trafficking. In her 90 days never once saw a client. This was brought up with her on a number of occasions with plenty of opportunities for training. One she declined, one she walked out on halfway through, yet repeatedly claimed that she didn't know what she was supposed to be doing.

So the 90 days comes up, she has this meeting on April 28 to go through her performance. Once she understands what the meeting is about and that her employment would not be continued, she brings this sexual harassment allegation. Our business takes this very seriously. They are in the business of victims. They stopped the proceedings immediately after the meeting had concluded to start an investigation which is why she was placed on administrative leave, more working from home so that the investigation could take place and she wouldn't be in the same room with her

harasser or alleged harasser. Same thing with her alleged harasser, he was asked not to come into the office while a full investigation took pl ace. Nothing could be corroborated. They take this very seriously and ultimately the decision to terminate her after her 90 days remained not withstanding her allegations of sexual harassment that could not be substantiated any way. is no connection between her complaint and her termination, that had already been decided before she had made it, or her lack of performance within those 90 days. We would respectfully request that this finding be upheld. CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. there any questions by commissioners? questions, Commissioner Silberberg? No questions. COMM. SILBERBERG: CHAIR SLASH: Thank you. Commissioner Tolliver? COMM. TOLLIVER: So there were three issue here and I would recommend that we uphold the Commission's finding of no probable

cause for each of the three issues.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CHAIR SLASH: Is there a second?

Are

1 COMM. HARRINGTON: Second. 2 CHAIR SLASH: Okay. 3 MR. LOSTUTTER: We will call the rol e. 4 Commissioner Silberberg? 5 COMM. SILBERBERG: Aye. 6 MR. LOSTUTTER: Commissioner 7 Harri ngton? 8 COMM. HARRINGTON: Aye. 9 MR. LOSTUTTER: Commi ssi oner Tolliver? 10 11 COMM. TOLLIVER: Aye. 12 Chair Slash? MR. LOSTUTTER: 13 CHAIR SLASH: Aye. 14 MR. LOSTUTTER: The ayes have it, 15 four to zero. CHAIR SLASH: We have one more 16 17 case for old business but I would like to say to 18 the folks who have come in and followed their 19 cases, we do still thank you for submitting them 20 and for following the process. It is not an easy 21 thing to do so we thank you. 22 The last case that I have in old business 23 was assigned to myself, Leslie Harrison versus 24 Meijer Stores Limited Partnership, Case 25 EMre22110661 and my recommendation is that we

```
uphold the deputy director's finding of probable
 1
 2
             Is there a motion?
    cause.
 3
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     So moved.
 4
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Thank you. Second?
 5
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Second.
 6
                   CHAIR SLASH: Thank you.
 7
                                    We will call the
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
 8
     rol e.
            Commissioner Silberberg?
 9
                   COMM. SILBERBERG:
                                       Aye.
10
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
11
    Harri ngton?
12
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Aye.
13
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
    Tolliver?
14
15
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     Aye.
16
                                    Chair Slash?
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
17
                   CHAIR SLASH: Aye.
18
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    The ayes have it,
19
    four to zero.
20
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Thank you.
                                               We have
21
    new business and I will assign them as present.
22
    The first case, Kevin Ahern versus Cort Furniture
23
    Rental, Case EMha23060664. That case I will
24
    assign to Commissioner Harrington.
25
            The case of Cary Lynch versus New Albany
```

Housing Authority, Case HOra23090724, I will assign to Commissioner Tolliver if that's okay.

COMM. TOLLIVER: Okay.

CHAIR SLASH: All right. We have some ALJ Decisions and Orders to review. The first one I am seeing a note that says that this first one, there was an objection filed with ALJ and continued.

MR. LOSTUTTER: Deputy Director -CHAIR SLASH: Do you want me to
read the case in first before you add comment?
MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Yes, please.

CHAIR SLASH: OKAY. The case is

Lee Robinson versus Phillips 66 Gas Station, Case

PAra20030115. The Administrative Law Judge held
a public hearing in this matter on January 10,

2024. The Complainant, a member of a protected
class, attended in person along with ICRC Staff

Attorney Fred Bremer. Respondent did not appear.

After listening to Complainant's testimony and Attorney Bremer's oral closing argument, the ALJ ordered the Respondent to pay within 30 days a civil penalty in the amount of \$10,000 made payable to the Indiana Civil Rights Commission and must also deliver to the Indiana

Civil Rights Director of Compliance as an escrow agent a check in the amount of \$30,000 made payable to the Complainant as compensation for emotional distress because of the unlawful and discriminatory actions made by the Respondent.

Within the same 30 days of the effective date of this Order, Respondent must also post nondiscrimination notices in conspicuous places at all of its properties including 702 Lincoln Way East, South Bend, Indiana, 46601, and on its website. Respondent must cease and desist from discriminating against people based on race in the protected area of public accommodation. The objection period in this matter has closed.

MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Thank you,
Chair Slash. The objection period has closed,
our staff attorney did file an objection; it was
however filed directly with OALP and not with the
Commission; therefore there is some process
requirements under AOPA that may render that
objection not timely filed with the ultimate
authority. However, the intent behind the
objection was to fix some what we believe are
clerical mistakes or errors in the nonfinal order
from the ALJ.

AOPA, the Administrative Orders and Procedures Act does allow for ultimate authorities to fix those errors. Typically it is after a final order has been issued. I think it is easier here to fix it before the final order is issued instead of issuing anything and going back and fixing it. The clerical mistakes that are in here, there is the Administrative Law Judge made references to the Indiana Fair Housing Act and this is a public accommodation case so obviously the Indiana Fair Housing Act does not apply in this situation and therefore Paragraph 6 under the conclusions of law which is on Page 4 of the ALJ order, that all talks to damages under the Indiana Fair Housing Act, which would not be applicable to this.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Paragraph 5 talks about damages under the Indiana Civil Rights Act so that's already contained in there so it would be to replace that paragraph. And then under the Decision and Order, Paragraph 3 which is on Page 5, that goes to a civil penalty against the Respondent; however, civil penalties are only permitted under the Indiana Fair Housing Act.

So given that it is an Indiana Civil

```
1
    Rights law case, a civil penalty would not be --
 2
    the Commission cannot issue a civil penalty under
 3
    the Indiana Civil Rights law.
 4
                   CHAIR SLASH: And that's the
 5
    $30,000?
 6
                   MR. FLEISCHHACKER: That's the
 7
    $10,000.
 8
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 The 10,000?
                                               Okay.
 9
                   MR. FLEISCHHACKER: The 30,000 is
10
    emotional distress damages and that's permissible
11
    under the Civil Rights law; however, the civil
12
    penalty is only permitted under the Indiana Fair
13
    Housing Act.
                   So I think that the Commission
14
    would be able to modify this Order and then issue
15
    the Final Order and in modifying basically
16
    removing that Paragraph 6 and the Paragraph 3 in
17
    those two areas that I discussed, and then
18
    removing any other reference to the Indiana Fair
19
    Housing Act. There is a couple code cites
20
    throughout the document, I would just remove
21
    those from those paragraphs.
22
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 0kay.
                                        So tell me if
23
    this works, does anyone have any questions?
24
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: I guess just
25
    procedurally, can we modify -- is there a reason
```

why we are modifying the ALJ's Order as opposed to the ALJ correcting it and resubmitting it?

MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Once the ALJ issues a Nonfinal Order, it becomes property of the Commission as the ultimate authority, so it essentially comes into your hands now to make those changes, so you are the body that would handle those changes to that Nonfinal Order.

COMM. TOLLIVER: Okay. Is this just a bad copy and paste?

MR. FLEISCHHACKER: That's what I believe it to be and I guess we will get into it during the director's report, if House Bill 1003 goes through and the ALJ ends being the ultimate authority in these types of cases, then we would be able to file something with the ALJ to correct those errors correctly because then it would be the final order and we could issue -- have that interaction with them. But here since it is an ALJ issuing a nonfinal order on behalf of an ultimate authority, once they issue that then it moves to the ultimate authority to do the things with it that it has the power to do under AOPA.

COMM. TOLLIVER: It would just make it easier if we had the Order.

```
1
                   MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Do you not
 2
    have the Order?
 3
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: I don't.
 4
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 We have the Order,
 5
     it was linked in our file, correct.
 6
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     Is it?
 7
                   CHAIR SLASH: I thought so.
 8
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Yes.
 9
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: Oh, I am sorry.
10
                   CHAIRPERSON SLASH:
                                        That's okay.
11
    With that being said, though, would you like to
12
    take a moment to read that or would you like for
    us to offer it as a motion?
13
14
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: If someone has a
15
    motion, I can read it.
16
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  So I am going to be
17
    a little fancy here and I am going to ask David
18
    to restate what he recommends we remodify.
19
                   MR. FLEISCHHACKER:
                                        Sure.
                                               My
20
     recommendation would be to modify the recommended
21
    findings of fact and conclusions of law and order
22
     to remove any references to the Indiana Fair
23
    Housing Act and specifically to remove Paragraph
24
    6 from the Conclusions of Law section and
25
    Paragraph 3 from the decision and order section,
```

```
1
    which would remove damages provisions from the
 2
    Indiana Fair Housing Act as inapplicable to this
 3
    matter.
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 Might I say so moved
 5
    because it should be reflected properly in the
    mi nutes?
 6
 7
                   MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Yeah, I can't
 8
    make a motion.
 9
                   CHAIR SLASH: You made recommended
10
     I anguage.
                Do you want to take a stab at it?
11
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: We are moving to
12
    accept the --
13
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 Yes.
                                       I would like
14
     to make a recommendation that we make a motion to
15
    accept the Deputy Director's recommended
16
    modification as stated.
17
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: Ultimately it
18
    will be part of the record and we will put
19
     together the --
20
                   CHAIR SLASH: I just need a so
21
    moved and a second.
22
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     So moved.
23
                   CHAIR SLASH: Is there a second?
24
                   COMM. HARRINGTON: I will second.
25
                   CHAIR SLASH: Commissioner
```

```
Silberberg, are you back?
 1
 2
                   COMM. SILBERBERG: Sorry, I got
 3
    lost.
 4
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Okay.
                                         Are you
 5
    following the motion of modification that we are
 6
    making at this time?
 7
                   COMM. SILBERBERG: I heard about
 8
    the first half of it and then I lost the last
 9
    probably five minutes I couldn't hear anymore.
10
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  0kay.
                                         So the motion
11
     that has been made has been on the recommended
12
    modification of this order as stated by our
13
    deputy director here. We have a motion, we are
14
    seeking a second.
15
                   COMM. SILBERBERG:
                                       Second.
16
                   CHAIR SLASH: Okay.
                                         Thank you.
17
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    All right.
                                                We
18
    will call the order, call the role. Commissioner
19
    Silberberg?
20
                   COMM. SILBERBERG:
                                       Aye.
21
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
22
    Harri ngton?
23
                   COMM. HARRINGTON:
                                       Aye.
24
                   MR. LOSTUTTER:
                                    Commissioner
25
    Tolliver?
```

COMM. TOLLIVER: Aye.

MR. LOSTUTTER: Chair Slash?

CHAIR SLASH: Aye.

MR. LOSTUTTER: The ayes have it.

CHAIR SLASH: We have very few

things left that we have to vote on. If you can hang with us just a little bit longer. The next case, ICRC/Lanita Goins versus Spicewood Garden Apartment II, LP, Herron Property Management, And Hand, Inc., Case HOra23080663. The case was submitted to the Commission on February 14, 2024. The Administrative Law Judge in this matter took under consideration the Respondent's request to move this matter out of the administrative forum, a request made on February 13, 2024.

Since the parties are not in agreement to have claims decided in a court of law, the Notice is granted in part and denied in part, with the Complaint of Discrimination under the IFHA against the Respondent dismissed with prejudice.

910 IAC 2-7-9(a). The Notice is not effective in moving the Complaint of Discrimination under the ICRL out of the Administrative forum, which will result in a bifurcation of the proceedings and will be addressed at the initial prehearing

conference with the parties to determine their intent before a final dismissal is issued.

The objection period in this matter has not closed and there is no decision on this matter due at this time. So we will see that next month I am sure.

MR. LOSTUTTER: Yes. One other thing we need to have a vote approval of previous meeting minutes.

CHAIR SLASH: Okay. So we will go through the ALJ cases that are automatically confirmed, I am just reading these into the record and if you are following along in your all over the place agenda, we will approve minutes after that and then we will hear the director's report.

So the first case that was automatically confirmed is Roger Sisler versus Somnath
Hospitality, LLC, Case PAha22120722. The next case, ICRC/Christopher Cottrell versus James
Ellenberger & Christine Villaire, Case
HOha23020143.

The next case, Scott Blevins versus

Mineral Springs, LLC, Case HOha23040347. Next

case, Ebony Wilson o/b/o MS versus Trinity

Lutheran Church and School, Case EDra22110668. 1 2 Next case, Thomas Jordan versus Best Buy 3 Stores, LP, Case PAha21060215. Next case, 4 ICRC/Carolyn Santiago versus KMC Property 5 Management, Case HOra23050422. Case ICRC/James 6 Lee & Cody Napier versus Robert N. Mead, 7 HOha22080387. That concludes our automatically 8 confirmed cases. 9 At this time I am going to go back to the 10 top of our agenda and ask for a motion to approve 11 the minutes from our January 2024 Commission 12 Meeting. 13 COMM. TOLLIVER: So moved. 14 COMM. HARRINGTON: So moved. Second. 15 COMM. TOLLIVER: 16 CHAIR SLASH: Okay. I will take 17 the motion by Commissioner Harrington and the 18 second by Commissioner tolliver. 19 COMM. SILBERBERG: Second. 20 MR. LOSTUTTER: I think that would 21 be third. 22 COMM. SILBERBERG: Okay. Thi rd, 23 sorry. 24 MR. LOSTUTTER: Now we will call 25 the role. Commissioner Silberberg?

1 COMM. SILBERBERG: Aye. 2 MR. LOSTUTTER: Commissioner 3 Harri ngton? 4 COMM. HARRINGTON: Aye. 5 MR. LOSTUTTER: Commissioner Tolliver? 6 7 COMM. TOLLIVER: Aye. 8 MR. LOSTUTTER: Chair Slash? 9 CHAIR SLASH: Aye. 10 MR. LOSTUTTER: The ayes have it. 11 CHAIR SLASH: 0kay. Wonderful. 12 At this time we will hear the ICRC Director's 13 Report. 14 MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Thank you, 15 I will try to keep things brief Chair Slash. 16 today, I know it's the beginning of the year and 17 everything. We have the -- I think it was just 18 after our last commission meeting on January 25, 19 we held the 25th annual Holocaust Remembrance 20 event which was well-attended and well-received. 21 So that was a I think a great event and better 22 attended Holocaust Remembrances that we have done 23 in recent times. 24 Currently right now we have some social 25 media campaigns going on for Black History Month,

we will have one for Disability Awareness Month in March. During April for Fair Housing Month we will have a webinar and some other social media campaign items that will be going on.

Typically in April we start our core events where we have an intake specialist out in the community at public libraries throughout Indianapolis. This year we have also expanded and we are going to be doing -- we have a group that we are going to be working with at the Northwest Indiana where we will be doing core events up there as well to get out and have somebody available for the general public to come to and ask questions and initiate that intake process right there on site.

Legislatively we are in the short session which is going pretty quickly. At the beginning there were 450 House bills that were filed and 300 bills in the Senate filed. Of those only 111 moved forward to the second chamber from the House and 109 moved forward into the second chamber for the Senate. We are still tracking a handful of bills that would have some kind of impact either directly or indirectly on ICRC.

House Bill 1002, I think it would have an

indirect impact on us of where it is adding a definition of anti-Semitism to the religious discrimination under the education title. We would already I guess enforce that under our discrimination laws under civil rights, but that is something that continues to move forward and actually saw Commissioner Silberberg provide testimony for that one when it was in the House.

House Bill 1003, we mentioned that earlier today, under that bill the ALJs under the Office of Administrative Law Proceeding would become the ultimate authority for the matters that fall under their jurisdiction, ICRC being one of those agencies and areas. That would also be for matters that go on judicial review in say a de novo proceeding with no deference to the agency decision.

And then there is also a new attorneys fees provision under there where if before the administrative law judge an agency loses and then files a judicial review and if they lose again before on that appeal, then they are beholden to the attorneys' fees for the Respondent in those cases if you lose both on the administrative and on the judicial review.

So some things going on with that one. We have been in discussions with our federal partners regarding whether or not those laws as written or as applied in practice would impact the department substantial equivalency requirements and as written there is not a concern because the laws are still getting enforced, there is still a process, but there is some concern about how it plays out in practice, you know, will some of those additional things have a chilling effect for judicial reviews, will they impact rights or remedies with the no deference and things of that nature. But we won't understand that until it actually plays out in the final bill languages and what it looks like in practice.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

House Bill 1026 doesn't impact this commission but it changes some of the language in the other cultural commissions that fall under the Civil Rights Commission as far as us providing administrative support to them.

And then Senate Bill 4 impacts some dedicated fund areas where if there is dedicated funds out there that haven't had any activity in them for two years or more, then state budgets

can pull those funds and revert them to the general fund. At this point we don't think that's going to impact any of our dedicated funds because we continue to spend money out of them, but that's something that could have an impact in the future.

Those are kind of the main bills that we are tracking. Senate Bill 15 is a Veteran's poster bill that charges the Department of Labor with help from the Department of Veterans Affairs to create a poster that will go up in businesses of 50 employers or more. I have reached out to my counterparts in both of those agencies to offer our assistance in making sure that our civil rights laws that impact veterans are included on that poster.

As far as metrics go, we are on pace to meet or exceed our federal agreements for the year. Kind of indicative of that for open investigations under employment, we have 381 open investigations currently, our contract for the year is 350 and we have already I think finished about 150, 175. So we have plenty of inventory to meet our EEOC agreement and this may be one of the first times in a long time that we might be

1 able to adjust our contract up to get payment for 2 more than our initial contract says. 3 Our current housing inventory is 30 cases 4 and then we have 14 other cases of public 5 accommodation, education. We actually have 6 credit case for the first time in several years. 7 CHAIR SLASH: Wow. 8 MR. FLEISCHHACKER: I know, crazy. 9 And then currently we have 58 open litigation 10 cases in either the administrative or judicial 11 So that's what is going on 12 operationally with the agency. 13 CHAIR SLASH: We haven't seen a 14 credit case since maybe 2017 when I first got here, and it was an old one from like 2015. 15 16 Thank you. Do we have any questions? Okay. 17 COMM. TOLLIVER: I do not. 18 CHAIR SLASH: Commissioner 19 Silberberg, do you have any questions? 20 COMM. SILBERBERG: No. 21 CHAIR SLASH: On the record, can 22 we be introduced to our new staff person? 23 MR. FLEI SCHHACKER: Yes. 24 absol utel y. This is Paris Walton. She is our 25 new outreach and education manager within

```
1
    External Affairs so she will be representing the
 2
    agency out at different functions, helping plan
 3
     them, and doing all kinds of cool stuff on behalf
 4
    of the agency.
 5
                   MS. WALTON:
                                 Thank you.
 6
                   CHAIR SLASH: I am very glad to
 7
    have you here at the agency.
 8
                   MS. WALTON:
                                 Thank you.
 9
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Okay. I did check
10
    with Commissioner Harrington before she left so I
11
     think I am okay to put this through.
12
    hearing any further questions for the staff, we
    will go back to our regular section of the agenda
13
14
    and look at meeting dates. The upcoming meeting
15
    of March 18, do you have any concerns?
16
                   COMM. TOLLIVER:
                                     I do not.
17
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                 Commi ssi oner
18
    Silberberg, do you have any concern with the
19
    March 18 date?
20
                   COMM. SI LBERBERG:
                                       No, that's
21
    fi ne.
22
                   CHAIR SLASH:
                                  Okay.
                                         Thank you.
23
    March 15, I am going to put a question mark next
24
    to.
25
                   COMM. TOLLIVER: April?
```

CHAIR SLASH: Yes, April, sorry. It is just after my birthday and I don't know if I will have returned back yet if I am going to So I will just make sure that I am alerting you all in advance that April 15 may be a concern for me. And we will look at the other dates when we have more commissioners available. Seeing no election training or other on the calendar, are we looking at a regular training cycle for this year?

MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Which would be held in April.

know, I know. So I will have an answer by the March meeting of what that looks like for me. And I actually think that I would like for us to kind of go through some of those more difficult cases that we have had in the past year as a part of that training to identify how we looked at them and maybe even if we could I would like to make the recommendation that we hear from staff that do the intake and the investigations about what all happens in that process. I think other commissioners have that question. Do you have anything that you would like to put on your wish

list of training?

COMM. TOLLIVER: I would like to see what the Legislature says, but if we are no longer the ultimate authority there is probably going to be a big change.

MR. FLEISCHHACKER: Yeah, it will just impact the ALJ decision portion of stuff, all the NOF appeals would still remain with the commission because those cause terminations are exempted from AOPA.

Thank you. CHAIR SLASH: So that was my only thing, I wanted to get some wish list items out there. Do we have any announcements? No? Okay. There is clearly no one here for public comment. And so with that being said, it is 2:09 p.m., it took us only an hour, I am shocked about that, but I will dismiss this month's meeting of the Indiana Civil Rights Commission.

(Proceedings adjourned at 2:09 p.m.)

21

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

1	CERTI FI CATE
2	STATE OF INDIANA )
3	) ss: COUNTY OF BOONE )
4	
5	I, Heather S. Orbaugh, the undersigned Court
6	Reporter and Notary Public residing and maintaining offices in the City of Zionsville, Boone County, Indiana, do hereby certify:
7	
8	That I reported to the best of my ability in machine shorthand all of the words spoken by all
9	parties in attendance during the course of the ensuing proceedings, including objections, if any, made by all counsel present;
10	
11	That I later reduced my shorthand notes into the foregoing typewritten transcript form, which
12	typewritten transcript is a true record to the best of my ability of the testimony given by the witness as stated above;
13	
14	That I am not a relative or employee or attorney or counsel of any of the parties, nor am I a relative or an employee of such attorney or
15	counsel, and that I am not financially interested in this action.
16	THE CHIS GOLFOIL
17	
18	IN WITNESS HERETO, I have affixed my Notarial
19	Seal and subscribed my signature below this 21st day of February, 2024.
20	
21	
22	HEATHER SORBAUGH Motory Public State of Indiana
23	SEAL Boone County Commission Number 0712173 My Commission Expires Any Commission Expires An
24	Notary Public
25	County of Residence: Boone (Seal) My Commission Expires on: April 4, 2026

- 1 -	<b>30,000</b> [3]		
	39:2; 41:5, 9	52:9; 53:23; 56:22; 57:17	
10,000 [3]	O .	<b>ABOVE</b> [1]	51:1
38:24; 41:7,	- 4 -	58:12	ADDITIONAL
8		ABOVE-CAP	[8] 16:20,
<b>1002</b> [1] 50:25	<b>46032</b> [1]	TIONED [1]	21; 23:10;
1003 [2]	<b>46032</b> [1] 1:24	1:10	25:6, 17;
42:13; 51:9	46204 [1]	ABSENCE	26:1, 2;
<b>1026</b> [1]	2:9	[2] 9:2, 3	52:10
52:17	<b>46601</b> [1]	ABSOLUTEL	ADDRESS
12,000 [1]	39:10	<b>Y</b> [3] 32:8;	[4] 3:18;
10:3	00.10	33:22; 54:24	5:3; 18:24;
16-YEAR [1]	- 6 -	ABUSE [3]	22:13
18:9		19:9; 29:9;	
	C 07 0000	31:13	[2] 3:19;
- 2 -	6-27-2023	ABUSERS	46:25
	[1] 18:3	[1] 29:10	
<b>2-7-9</b> [1]		ACCEPT [2]	33:1
46:21	- 8 -	44:12, 15	ADJOURNED
<b>2015</b> [1]		ACCOMMOD ATE [1]	[1] 57:20 <b>ADJUST</b> [1]
54:15	<b>848-0088</b> [1]	8:24	54:1
<b>2017</b> [1]	1:25	ACCOMMOD	ADJUSTMEN
54:14		ATION [3]	T [2] 8:10,
<b>2022</b> [3]	- 9 -	39:13;	14
28:16; 31:5,		40:10; 54:5	ADMINISTRA
17	<b>90-DAY</b> [1]	ACCURATE	<b>TIVE</b> [12]
<b>2023</b> [4]	33:18	[1] 1:23	34:23;
7:21; 21:22;		ACTION [3]	
29:11; 30:13	- A -	22:13; 23:2;	8; 46:12,
<b>2024</b> [10]		58:15	14, 23;
1:5, 17; 3:2,	ABILITY [2]	ACTIONS	51:11, 20,
5; 32:19;	58:7, 12	[1] 39:5	24; 52:21;
38:17;	ABLE [8]	ACTIVISTS	54:10
46:11, 15;	8:21; 11:21;		ADRIANNE
48:11; 58:19	23:14; 28:9;		[2] 1:11;
<b>2026</b> [1]	32:22;	[1] 11:23	2:4
58:25 <b>21ST</b> [1]	41:14;	ACTIVITY	ADVANCE
<b>21ST</b> [1] 58:18	42:16; 54:1	[1] 52:24	[1] 56:5
<b>25TH</b> [1]	ABOUT [21]	ACTUALLY	ADVISED [1]
49:19	3:20; 8:15;	[7] 9:25;	3:10
<b>29TH</b> [1]	12:12; 13:19;	17:12; 18:6; 51:7; 52:14;	<b>ADVOCACY</b> [1] 28:11
8:11	16:12; 22:9,		
	11; 23:20;		
- 3 -	24:9; 25:22,		
	23; 28:25;	5:17, 18;	25:3; 26:9
	29:15; 32:9;		
	34:16;	,,	[1] 14:15
	,		

AFFIVED (4)	400550 (4)		
AFFIXED [1]	AGREES [1]	17:24; 19:7;	
58:18	29:24	20:10; 23:3;	[1] 46:9
AFTER [18]	AHEAD [2]	27:15;	APARTMENT
3:22; 8:14;	6:2, 15	29:25;	<b>S</b> [1] 6:13
13:1; 18:20;	AHERN [1]	32:14, 16;	APPARENT
20:7; 27:11;	37:22	38:25; 39:7;	= =
30:14, 22,			
25; 31:12;	21:25; 22:6;	18	3:16; 7:12;
32:11;	24:2, 5, 7	ALWAYS [2]	16:17; 21:5,
34:21; 35:7;		8:23; 10:17	16; 28:6;
38:20; 40:4;	10:23	AMEND [1]	32:11; 51:22
47:15;	ALBANY [1]	21:13	APPEALED
49:18; 56:2	37:25	AMOUNT [6]	
AFTERNOON		9:3; 23:18,	
[2] 16:16;	[1] 56:4	19; 28:20;	APPEALS
33:4	ALIGNMENT	38:23; 39:2	[4] 3:14;
AFUWAPE	[1] 14:4	AMPLE [1]	5:2, 4; 57:8
[1] 2:13	ALJ'S [1]	21:11	APPEAR [1]
AGAIN [8]		ANALYSIS	38:19
13:7; 15:17;	ALJS [1]	[1] 33:13	APPLICABLE
19:14;	51:10	ANDREA [1]	
22:12;	ALLEGATION	28:15	APPLIED [3]
23:13;	[1] 34:18	ANNOUNCE	19:24; 20:3;
30:21;	ALLEGATION	[1] 4:18	52:4
32:18; 51:21	<b>S</b> [1] 35:8	ANNOUNCEM	APPLY [1]
AGAINST	ALLEGED	ENTS [1]	40:12
[5] 21:2, 9;	[3] 22:24;	57:13	APPRECIATE
39:12;	35:1, 2	ANNUAL [1]	[2] 16:17;
40:22; 46:20	ALLEGEDLY	49:19	17:17
AGENCIES	[1] 8:18	ANOTHER	APPROPRIA
[2] 51:14;	ALLOW [1]	[1] 29:9	<b>TE</b> [1]
53:13	40:2	ANSWER [1]	22:13
AGENCY [6]	ALLOWED	56:14	APPROVAL
51:17, 20;	[4] 3:10;	ANTI-SEMITI	[1] 47:8
54:12; 55:2,	17:13, 17;	<b>SM</b> [1] 51:2	APPROVE
4, 7	19:9	ANXIETY [1]	[2] 47:14;
AGENDA [5]	ALMOST [1]	19:19	48:10
3:25; 4:19;	30:5	ANYBODY'S	APRIL [9]
47:14;	ALONE [1]	[1] 12:17	31:4; 34:14;
48:10; 55:13	22:17	ANYMORE	50:2, 5;
AGENT [1]	ALONG [2]	[1] 45:9	55:25; 56:1,
39:2	38:18; 47:13	ANYONE [2]	5, 12; 58:25
AGREE [1]	ALREADY	17:22; 41:23	AREA [1]
13:25		ANYTHING	
AGREEMENT	35:11;	[4] 7:14;	AREAS [3]
		9:18; 40:6;	
53:24	53:22	56:25	51:14; 52:23
AGREEMENT	<b>ALSO</b> [17]	<b>AOPA</b> [4]	
<b>S</b> [1] 53:18		39:20; 40:1;	
	13:5; 15:20;		

		45:1; 48:9;	
[6] 3:13;	[3] 34:5;	55:13; 56:3	6:11; 10:6,
5:14; 7:1;		BACKGROUN	17, 22;
15:21;	ATTORNEY	<b>D</b> [1] 10:16	
27:16; 38:22		BASED [14]	18:22;
	20; 8:6, 7,		
	14; 27:22;		23:13, 14;
21:4, 15	38:19, 21;	11:20;	25:10;
ARMY [1]	39:17; 58:14	16:18, 24;	29:25; 30:4,
18:10	ATTORNEYS	17:1, 6, 14;	10; 33:25;
AROUND [1]	[2] 51:18,		35:11; 40:4;
8:23	23	22:17; 24:4;	
ASHIM [3]	AUTHORITIE		
29:21; 30:3,	<b>S</b> [1] 40:3		• •
8	AUTHORITY	[8] 7:16;	12; 24:1,
ASHLEY [1]	[8] 38:1;	8:3, 7, 25;	24; 27:18,
20:8	39:22; 42:5,	9:2, 16;	23; 29:7;
	15, 21, 22;	18:14; 41:15	35:11;
12:14; 29:4;	51:12; 57:4	BASIS [1]	38:11; 40:5;
31:7, 17;	AUTOMATIC		47:2; 51:19,
35:2	ALLY [4]		22; 55:10
ASKING [1]	5:7; 47:11,		BEGAN [1]
33:24	17; 48:7	BEACON [1]	28:21
ASKS [1]	AVAILABLE	6:13	BEGIN [4]
29:4	[2] 50:13;		6:2; 16:14;
ASSAULT	56:7	21:22; 22:8,	27:21, 24
[1] 33:20		12, 20	BEGINNING
ASSIGN [3]		BEATTY'S	[2] 49:16;
	AWARD [1]	[2] 19:1;	
38:2	31:1	22:2	BEGINS [1]
ASSIGNED	AWARE [1]	BECAME [2]	
[4] 6:14;		19:2, 3	BEHALF [7]
	AWARENESS		
27:16; 36:23	= =		
ASSIGNING	AYES [6]		
[1] 5:4	15:14; 27:8;	12, 22;	55:3
ASSIGNMEN	36:14;	10:13; 11:9,	BEHAVIOR
<b>TS</b> [1]	37:18; 46:4;	20; 12:17;	
19:13	49:10	13:7, 10, 13;	12
ASSIST [7]		18:5, 18;	
2:17; 5:21;	- B -	19:12, 21;	
27:14; 29:7,		20:10, 13;	
20; 31:21;	<b>BACK</b> [14]	23:9; 29:18;	
33:6	8:8; 11:12;	39:4; 42:17;	
ASSISTANCE	12:8; 13:23;	44:5; 52:7;	7:24; 10:9,
[1] 53:14	14:22;	53:4; 57:9	24; 12:7;
ASSURED	20:11;	BECOME [1]	
[1] 30:1	25:21, 25;	51:12	42:14;
ATTENDANC	27:10; 40:7;	BECOMES	43:11;
<b>E</b> [1] 58:8		[1] 42:4	51:13; 57:15

BELIEVE	BLEVINS [1]	BROUGHT	CARMEL [1]
[15] 5:14,	47:23	[4] 18:22;	1:24
20, 21;	BLUE [1]	21:4; 22:16;	CAROLYN
17:3; 18:15,	24:6	34:7	[1] 48:4
18; 22:5,	BLUITT [1]	BUDGETS	CARY [1]
19, 23;	29:6	[1] 52:25	37:25
24:6; 25:23;	BODY [1]	BUILDING	<b>CASE</b> [57]
33:9; 34:2;	42:7	[1] 8:1	3:21; 6:3, 9,
39:23; 42:12	BONE [1]	BUSINESS	10, 11, 12,
BELIEVED	11:20	[7] 5:1, 3;	13, 14, 19,
[1] 21:24	BOONE [4]	34:18, 19;	20; 7:5;
BELITTLE	1:13; 58:3,	36:17, 22;	11:18;
[1] 19:9		37:21	14:22;
BELLIGEREN		BUSINESSES	
<b>T</b> [1] 19:4	19:11	[1] 53:11	19, 20;
BELOW [1]	<b>BOTH</b> [9]		16:4; 24:17;
58:18	7:1; 15:21;	- C -	27:13, 14,
BEND [1]	16:12;		16; 28:11;
39:10	24:22;	CALENDAR	30:4; 33:8;
BEST [3]	28:18; 30:3;	[1] 56:8	36:17, 22,
48:2; 58:7,	31:9; 51:24;	<b>CALL</b> [13]	24; 37:22,
12	53:13	3:5; 4:1;	23, 25;
BETTER [3]	BOTTOM [1]	7:14; 10:18;	38:1, 11, 13,
3:25; 10:19;	31:22	15:3; 19:11;	14; 40:10;
49:21	BRAVE [1]	26:5, 22;	41:1; 46:8,
BETWEEN	28:23	36:3; 37:7;	10; 47:17,
[2] 9:21;	BREMER [1]	45:18; 48:24	19, 20, 21,
35:10 <b>BIBBS</b> [3]	38:19 <b>BREMER'S</b>	CALLED [1]	23, 24, 25; 48:1, 2, 3, 5;
29:12, 22;		12:13	54:6, 14
30:21	[1] 38:21 BRIEF [1]	CAME [3]	CASES [10]
BIFURCATIO	49:15	5:10; 8:15;	24:21;
N [1] 46:24		32:7	36:19;
BIGGEST		CAMPAIGN	42:15;
[1] 13:4	BRINGS [1]	[1] 50:4	47:11; 48:8;
BILL [10]		CAMPAIGNS	51:24; 54:3,
10:3; 42:13;		[1] 49:25	4, 10; 56:18
50:25; 51:9,	7:21	<b>CAN'T</b> [5]	CATEGORY
10; 52:15,		10:4; 11:3;	[1] 13:4
17, 22;	11:20	12:4; 17:11;	CAUSE [11]
53:8, 9	BROOKDALE	44:7	14:2; 20:25;
BILLS [4]	[14] 2:20;	CANDIDATE	22:22;
50:18, 19,	5:16; 15:19;	[1] 10:20 CANNOT [3]	23:22; 25:3;
23; 53:7	18:14, 24;	10:4; 20:11;	26:10; 33:7,
BIRTHDAY	20:22; 21:1,	41:2	14; 35:24;
[1] 56:2	9, 10, 19;	CARE [1]	37:2; 57:9
BLACK [1]	22:12, 25;	8:5	CEASE [1]
49:25	23:20, 21	CAREER [1]	39:11
BLAMING	BROOKDALE	10:14	CENTER [2]
[1] 32:20	<b>'S</b> [1] 21:25		1:15; 2:8

CENTURY	13:22; 15:1;	52:20:	COMES [2]
[1] 31:2	43:10	53:15; 57:18	34:13; 42:6
CERTIFICAT	CHAMBER	CLAIM [7]	
<b>E</b> [1] 58:1	[2] 50:20,		
CERTIFY [1]	22	12:15;	23
58:6	CHANGE [1]	16:18, 23;	
CHAIR [92]	57:5	33:13	11:16; 12:4;
4:13, 14, 18;	CHANGES	CLAIMED	14:7, 12, 16,
5:9; 6:1, 8,	[4] 32:9;	[1] 34:11	19, 25;
17, 24; 7:4,	42:7, 8;	CLAIMS [1]	15:5, 8, 11;
10; 11:14,	52:18	46:17	23:24;
25; 12:6,			24:10, 13,
11; 14:10,			16, 20;
20; 15:12,		CLASS [2]	
13, 16, 23;	[1] 53:9	23:9; 38:18	26:11, 15,
16:8, 11;	CHECK [3]	CLEAR [1]	18, 20, 24;
19:23;	25:21; 39:2;	25:14	27:2, 5;
20:18, 20;	55:9	CLEARLY	28:3; 35:18,
24:11, 14,		[1] 57:14	
17; 26:7,	[1] 52:11	CLERICAL	
12, 16, 19,		[2] 39:24;	
21; 27:6, 7,	9:4	40:7	38:3; 41:24;
9, 13, 20;	CHOSEN [1]	CLERK [2]	42:9, 24;
28:1; 32:4;	23:14	3:21; 25:5	43:3, 6, 9,
33:2; 35:15,		CLIENT [1]	14; 44:11,
19, 25;	[2] 2:13;		17, 22, 24;
36:2, 12, 13,		CLOSED [4]	
16; 37:4, 6,		8:9; 39:14,	
16, 17, 20;	[1] 47:21	16; 47:4	48:13, 14,
38:4, 10, 13;	CHRISTOPH	CLOSING	15, 19, 22;
39:16; 41:4,	<b>ER</b> [1]	[1] 38:21	49:1, 4, 7;
8, 22; 43:4,	47:20	COACHED	54:17, 20;
		[3] 22:8, 21;	
9, 13, 20,		31:1	
23, 25;		CODE [1]	
45:4, 10, 16;	41:19	41:19	[17] 11:17;
		CODY [1]	
	58:6	48:6	22:17, 21,
	<b>CIVIL</b> [27]	COLLEAGUE	
		<b>S</b> [1] 17:7	
		COLLISION	
		[1] 6:20	
17, 22;	28:22;	<b>COME</b> [10]	38:11; 57:15
		9:15; 20:4;	
	33:10;	27:10;	[4] 11:3;
CHAIRPERS	38:23, 24;	28:12;	22:10, 15;
		30:10; 32:1,	
1:12; 2:4;	22, 23, 25;	2; 35:2;	COMMISSIO
3:4, 23;	41:1, 2, 3,	36:18; 50:13	<b>N</b> [39] 1:2,
	11; 51:5;		11; 2:3, 7,

37:8, 10, 13, 24; 38:2; 44:25; 45:18, 21, 24; 48:17, 18, 25; 49:2; 51:7; 54:18; 55:10, 17 COMMISSIO NERS [8] 3:14; 5:4; 7:6; 11:15; 16:5; 35:16;	NS [1] 52:19 COMMON [2] 19:18; 22:3 COMMUNICA TION [1] 16:23 COMMUNITY [2] 31:16; 50:7 COMP [2] 8:4; 9:14 COMPANY [2] 9:20; 19:25 COMPENSAT ION [2] 9:24; 39:3 COMPLAIN [1] 22:11 COMPLAINA NT [9] 2:18, 19, 21; 16:2, 4; 33:23; 34:2; 38:17; 39:3 COMPLAINA NT'S [1] 38:20 COMPLAINA NT'S [1] 38:20 COMPLAINE D [1] 21:22 COMPLAINT [17] 3:16; 14:8; 18:5, 23; 19:16; 20:10, 24; 21:8, 13; 22:14, 17, 19; 30:14; 35:10; 46:19, 22 COMPLAINT S [2] 20:7; 21:10 COMPLETE	25:19 CONFIRMED [4] 5:7; 47:12, 18; 48:8 CONFUSED [1] 30:16 CONGRATUL ATIONS [1] 31:3 CONNECTIO N [1] 35:10	TION [1] 46:13 CONSIDERE D [1] 21:16 CONSPICUO US [1] 39:8 CONTACT [4] 7:24; 9:8; 18:25; 28:19 CONTACTED [5] 17:5; 18:7, 18, 19; 20:3 CONTAINED [1] 40:19 CONTINUE [3] 6:18; 26:14; 53:4 CONTINUED [5] 6:11, 21; 30:8; 34:17; 38:8 CONTINUES [1] 51:6 CONTINUES [1] 51:6 CONTINUES [1] 51:6 CONTINUES [1] 51:6 CONTRACT [3] 53:21; 54:1, 2 CONTRERAS [1] 28:15 COOL [1] 55:3 COPY [1] 42:10 CORE [2] 50:5, 11 CORRECT [5] 3:8; 26:11, 15; 42:16; 43:5 CORRECTIN G [1] 42:2 CORRECTIV E [2] 22:13;
3:14; 5:4; 7:6; 11:15;	<b>S</b> [2] 20:7; 21:10 <b>COMPLETE</b>	31:3 CONNECTIO N [1] 35:10	G [1] 42:2 CORRECTIV E [2] 22:13; 23:2

22:22; 23:5;
42:17
CORROBORA
TED [1]
35:5 <b>CORT</b> [1]
• •
37:22 COTTERMAN
[1] 31:10
COTTRELL
[1] 47:20
COLL D [12]
8·23· 13·0·
COULD [12] 8:23; 13:9; 14:12; 17:9; 18:5; 32:13;
14.12, 17.9,
34:24; 35:5,
9; 42:18;
53:5; 56:20
COULDN'T
[1] 45:9
COUNSEL
[3] 58:9, 14,
15
COUNTERPA
RTS [1]
[ ]
53:13
53:13
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3,
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24;
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5;
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7 CRAZY [1]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7 CRAZY [1] 54:8
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7 CRAZY [1] 54:8 CREATE [1]
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7 CRAZY [1] 54:8 CREATE [1] 53:11
53:13 COUNTY [4] 1:13; 58:3, 6, 24 COUPLE [1] 41:19 COURSE [4] 13:24; 21:14; 30:5; 58:8 COURT [2] 46:17; 58:5 COVERAGE [1] 9:16 COVERS [1] 5:22 COWORKER S [1] 17:7 CRAZY [1] 54:8 CREATE [1]

# CULTURAL [1] 52:19 CURRENT [1] 54:3 CURRENTLY [3] 49:24; 53:21; 54:9 CYCLE [1] 56:9

## - D -DAMAGES 40:14, [4] 17; 41:10; 44:1 DATE [4] 8:12; 18:6; 39:7; 55:19 DATES [3] 29:5; 55:14; 56:6 DAVID [2] 2:8; 43:17 DAYS [8] 8:17; 33:20; 34:6. 13: 35:7, 13; 38:23; 39:6 DEBATED [2] 32:1, 2 DEBRA [1] 29:5 DECEMBER [1] 30:13 DECIDE [1] 23:11 DECIDED [3] 29:7; 35:11; 46:17 DECISION 21:17; [8] 31:21; 35:6; 40:20: 43:25; 47:4; 51:17; 57:7 DECISIONS

[4] 5:5, 6;

30:15: 38:5

DECLINED [1] 34:9 **DEDICATED** [4] 33:19; 52:23; 53:3 **DEFERENCE** [2] 51:16: 52:13 **DEFINITELY** [1] 28:18 **DEFINITION** [1] 51:2 **DELIBERATE** [1] 32:24 DELICATE [1] 23:15 DELIVER [1] 38:25 **DELIVERED** 30:16. [2] 17 **DEMONSTRA** TED [1] 30:6 DENIED [3] 16:24; 23:4; 46:18 DEPART [1] 4:24 **DEPARTMEN T** [4] 21:25; 52:5; 53:9, 10 **DEPUTY** [6] 26:9: 2:8; 37:1; 38:9; 44:15; 45:13 DESIST [1] 39:11 DESPITE [1] 32:20 DETERMINA TION [2] 3:15; 8:12 DETERMINE [1] 47:1 **DIDN'T** [6] 9:19; 12:17, 23; 19:17; 23:12; 34:11

DIFFERENT 12:19; [4] 19:25; 33:25; 55:2 DIFFERENTL **Y** [2] 17:6; 23:7 **DIFFICULT** [1] 56:17 **DIGRESS** [2] 29:11; 32:18 DIRECT [3] 18:25; 20:5; 31:10 DIRECTION [1] 13:9 DIRECTLY [4] 3:11, 19; 39:18; 50:24 DIRECTOR [4] 2:8: 38:9; 39:1; 45:13 DIRECTOR'S 4:22; [8] 5:7; 26:9; 37:1; 42:13; 44:15; 47:15; 49:12 DISABILITIE **S** [2] 18:11, 13 DISABILITY 7:20; [9] 11:19; 12:13; 13:2, 11; 3, 18:22; 22:7; 50:1 DISAPPOINT ING [1] 32:20 DISCHARGE **D** [1] 18:10 DISCIPLINE **D** [1] 22:20 DISCRIMINA **TE** [1] 21:2

DISCRIMINA	DOCUMENTE	EASIER [2]	EMPLOYEE
	<b>D</b> [2] 18:12;	= =	
39:12	33:23	EAST [1]	14
DISCRIMINA	DOES [4]	39:10	<b>EMPLOYER</b>
<b>TION</b> [9]	21:20; 40:2,	EASY [1]	[2] 10:9;
12:21; 17:1;		36:20	21:20
18:2; 21:21;			
23:19;	52:17	47:25	[1] 53:12
46:19, 22;			
51:3, 5	34:12; 50:9,		<b>T</b> [7] 10:12,
DISCRIMINA	11; 55:3	EDUCATION	16; 21:11;
<b>TORY</b> [3]	DONE [5]	[3] 51:3;	23:5; 29:13;
19:3; 22:23;	16:19;	54:5, 25	34:16; 53:20
39:5	29:15;	EEOC [4]	EMRE221106
DISCUSS [1]	30:11; 32:9;		<b>61</b> [1]
18:1	49:22	53:24	36:25
DISCUSSED	DOORS [1]	EFFECT [1]	EMSE220703
[1] 41:17	8:9	52:11	<b>63</b> [1]
DISCUSSING	DOTY [4]	EFFECTIVE	27:15
[1] 29:5	2:20; 20:21;	[2] 39:6;	ENABLED
DISCUSSION	24:3	46:21	[1] 29:10
[2] 31:5, 11	DOWN [1]	EITHER [4]	ENDED [1]
DISCUSSION	10:20	14:14;	19:20
<b>S</b> [1] 52:2	DOWNRIGHT	19:10;	ENDS [1]
DISMISS [4]		50:24; 54:10	
	DRIVE [1]	ELBOW [1]	
18; 57:17	1:24	7:21	[1] 51:4
DISMISSAL	DURING [8]		ENFORCED
[2] 14:23;			
47:2	10:2; 19:15;		
DISMISSED		<b>ER</b> [1]	
[1] 46:20			5:15; 15:18;
DISSATISFA		ELSE [1]	16:16;
	DUSTIN [3]		17:12;
22:18	2:19; 5:14;		19:24; 21:2,
DISTRESS	6:19	<b>37</b> [1] 6:20	3, 9, 21;
[2] 39:4;	<b>DUTY</b> [1]	EMHA230606	·
41:10	9:11	<b>64</b> [1]	25; 23:3, 6;
<b>DOCKET</b> [2] 3:21; 25:5		37:23 EMHA230806	27:12 <b>ENGLISH'S</b>
DOCTOR [1]	- E -	44 [1]	
13:15		15:20	[2] 21:8; 22:14
DOCTORS	E-MAIL [2]	EMOTIONAL	ENSUING
[1] 9:12	7:14; 17:20	[2] 39:4;	[1] 58:9
DOCUMENT	EACH [3]	41:10	ENTAILING
[1] 41:20	16:2; 19:14;	EMPLOYED	[1] 31:5
DOCUMENTA	35:24	[2] 13:20;	ENTERED
TION [4]	EARLIER [1]	31:20	[2] 18:16;
7:22, 23;	51:10	•	31:6
9:9; 11:12	<b>EARS</b> [1]		
•	22:3		

[2] 30:2, 20 <b>EQUAL</b> [2]		<b>FACT</b> [13]	7:19 FICTITIOUS
	EVIDENCE		
EQUALLY	[9] 17:14,		
[1] 32:16 <b>EQUIVALEN</b>	15; 24:23; 25:9; 28:20;	10:6, 24; 13:25;	18:17; 39:17;
CY [1] 52:5	29:17; 30:1,	16:24;	42:16; 43:5
ERRORS [3]		18:19;	FILED [9]
39:24; 40:3;	EXACTLY	20:24;	16:18; 18:2,
42:17	[1] 12:18		
		FACTS [1]	
39:1	53:18	21:5	21; 50:18,
ESPECIALLY			19
[2] 22:4;	3:12, 18		FILES [1]
30:18	EXCUSED	FAIL [1]	51:21
ESSENTIALL	[1] 33:25	18:24	FILING [3]
<b>Y</b> [1] 42:6	EXEMPTED	FAILED [1]	18:1, 4;
ESTABLISH	[1] 57:10	9:13	30:14
[1] 25:13	EXHAUSTED	• •	
ESTABLISHE	[2] 32:13,		
<b>D</b> [2] 3:6;	15	24; 41:12,	5; 41:15;
4:1	EXPANDED	18; 43:22;	42:18; 47:2;
ESTABLISHI	[1] 50:8	44:2; 50:2	52:15
	EXPERIENCE		FINALLY [1]
25:23	[1] 30:11	13:20	30:15
<b>EVEN</b> [11] 8:2; 10:4;	EXPERIENCE D [4] 20.42	<b>FALL</b> [5] 12:24; 13:3;	
11:4, 5;	D [1] 28:13 EXPERIENCI	17:1; 51:13;	<b>Y</b> [1] 58:15 <b>FIND</b> [4]
13:15, 19;	NG [1]	52:19	= =
23:10;	30:25	<b>FALSE</b> [1]	9:15; 20:9;
32:10;	EXPIRES [2]		FINDING
33:14; 56:20		FANCY [1]	
<b>EVENT</b> [2]		43:17	14:15; 21:1;
49:20, 21	15:25	FAST [2]	23:22; 25:3;
	EXPLAINED	29:11; 30:13	
33:25; 50:6,	[4] 12:15,		35:14, 23;
12	16, 18, 25	5:18, 19	37:1
EVER [2]	EXTERNAL		
10:13, 16	[1] 55:1	[7] 1:5, 17;	[7] 7:15;
EVERY [1]	EXTREMELY	3:2, 5;	8:12, 25;
28:7	[1] 31:14	46:11, 15;	9:5; 10:24;
EVERYBODY	EXUBERANT	58:19	33:14; 43:21
[1] 27:24	[1] 28:20	FEDERAL	FINE [1]
EVERYONE		[3] 18:3;	55:21
[1] 29:4	- F -	52:2; 53:18	
EVERYONE'S		FEEL [2]	
[1] 32:3	FACE [1]	10:7, 12	53:22
EVERYTHIN	31:15		FIRED [2]
<b>G</b> [6] 7:16;		51:19, 23	8:16; 31:7

FIRST [14]	50:20, 21;	FURNISHED
3:9; 5:1;	51:6	[1] 16:21
6:2; 25:2;	FOUND [7]	FURNITURE
26:8; 37:22;	10:19;	[1] 37:22
38:6, 7, 11;	21:23;	FURTHER
45:8; 47:17;	22:22; 23:3,	[6] 8:5;
53:25; 54:6,	16; 33:14,	9:11; 14:4;
14	16	16:23;
FIVE [4]	FOUR [3]	22:14; 55:12
7:5; 16:1;	15:15;	FUTURE [1]
32:3; 45:9	36:15; 37:19	53:6
FIXING [1]	FRAME [1]	
= =		
40:7	10:2	- G -
FLEISCHHAC	FRED [1]	
<b>KER</b> [20]	38:19	CARDEN (41
2:8; 4:6;	FREQUENT	GARDEN [1]
		46:8
5:23; 6:7;	[1] 19:2	GASLIGHT
14:14; 16:8;	FROM [34]	[1] 31:2
38:12;	4:17; 5:24;	GAVE [1]
39:15; 41:6,	6:21; 8:9;	
9; 42:3, 11;	9:10, 11;	19:19
43:1, 19;	10:1, 7;	GENERAL
		[4] 31:5, 11;
44:7; 49:14;	13:3; 17:7;	50:13; 53:2
54:8, 23;	18:16, 24;	GENTLEMAN
56:11; 57:6	19:5; 20:1,	[1] 13:10
FOLKS [1]	8, 16;	GETTING [3]
36:18	24:15;	
FOLLOWED	25:18;	10:1, 16;
[2] 5:6;	27:21;	52:7
36:18	31:16;	GIVE [2]
FOLLOWING		7:5; 9:13
	33:25;	GIVEN [3]
[3] 36:20;	34:23;	33:13;
45:5; 47:13	39:11, 25;	40:25; 58:12
FORCE [1]	41:21;	GLAD [1]
34:5	43:24, 25;	55:6
FORCED [1]	44:1; 48:11;	
19:13	50:20;	GOES [3]
FOREGOING	53:10;	31:2; 40:21;
[1] 58:11	54:15;	42:14
FORM [2]	56:21; 57:10	<b>GOING</b> [22]
		4:20, 21;
31:9; 58:11	FULL [1]	10:5; 13:25;
	35:3	24:7; 28:11;
27:17	FUNCTIONS	30:19; 40:6;
FORUM [2]		43:16, 17;
46:14, 23	FUND [2]	
EODWADD		48.9; 49.25
FORWARD	52:23; 53:2	48:9; 49:25; 50:4. 9. 10.
[7] 7:8;		50:4, 9, 10,
	52:23; 53:2	50:4, 9, 10, 17; 52:1;
[7] 7:8;	52:23; 53:2 FUNDS [3]	50:4, 9, 10,

GOINS [1] 46:8 GONE [1] 25:10 GOOD [5] 6:25; 10:18; 16:16; 31:11; 33:4 GOOGLE [1] 32:17 GOVERNMEN **T** [2] 1:15; 2:8 GRANTED [1] 46:18 GREAT [4] 9:3; 19:19; 28:17; 49:21 GRIEVANCE **S** [2] 21:7, 12 GROSS [1] 30:6 GROUP [1] 50:9 GROWN [1] 31:13 GUESS [6] 10:21; 13:9; 23:15; 41:24; 42:12; 51:4 **GUIDELINES** [1] 12:23

57:5

- H -

HADN'T [1] 32:8 HALF [5] 30:6, 14; 32:6, 17; 45:8 **HALFWAY** [1] 34:10 HAND [2] 8:23; 46:10 HANDFUL [1] 50:23

HANDLE [1]	HAVEN'T [2]	43:17;	HOPES [1]
42:8	52:24; 54:13	45:13;	33:21
HANDLED	HAVING [2]	54:15; 55:7;	HORA230504
[1] 30:4	19:20, 22	57:14	<b>22</b> [1] 48:5
HANDS [2]	<b>HEAR</b> [10]	HEREBY [1]	HORA230806
13:1; 42:6	6:21; 12:4;	58:6	<b>63</b> [1]
HANG [1]	17:11;	HERETO [1]	46:10
46:7	27:21, 25;	58:18	HORA230907
HAPPENED	28:2; 45:9;	HERRON [1]	<b>24</b> [1] 38:1
[4] 9:19;	47:15;	46:9	HOSPITALIT
10:17;	49:12; 56:21	HIGH [1]	<b>Y</b> [1] 47:19
11:10; 12:19	HEARD [4]	33:21	HOUR [1]
HAPPENING	19:17;	HINDERED	57:16
[1] 10:8	23:12; 28:9;	[1] 10:13	HOUSE [7]
HAPPENS	45:7	HIRE [1]	42:13;
[1] 56:23	HEARING	34:4	50:18, 21,
HARASSER	[12] 8:10,	HIRED [1]	25; 51:8, 9;
[6] 31:6, 10,	15; 14:4;	34:3	52:17
12; 35:1, 2	18:22;	HIRES [1]	HOUSING
HARASSMEN	21:24; 22:6;	33:21	[11] 38:1;
<b>T</b> [9] 21:21;	24:2, 5, 7, 9;	HISTORY [1]	40:9, 11, 15,
23:19;	38:16; 55:12	49:25	24; 41:13,
28:13, 25;	HEART [3]	HOHA220803	19; 43:23;
30:25;	19:21, 22	<b>87</b> [1] 48:7	44:2; 50:2;
31:14;	HEATHER	HOHA230201	54:3
32:10;	[2] 1:12;	<b>43</b> [1]	HOWEVER
34:18; 35:8	58:5	47:22	[6] 20:15;
HARD [1]	HELD [3]	HOHA230403	28:15;
8:2	38:15;	<b>47</b> [1]	39:18, 22;
HARRINGTO	49:19; 56:12	47:24	40:23; 41:11
<b>N</b> [34] 2:5;		HOHA231108	HUMAN [5]
4:6, 7, 9, 24;	4:23; 22:6;	<b>79</b> [1] 6:13	18:23;
14:12, 19;	53:10		
45.7 0.		HOLD [1]	21:25; 22:8;
15:7, 8;	HELPING [2]	9:12	34:3, 6
23:24;	<b>HELPING</b> [2] 33:19; 55:2	9:12 <b>HOLLI</b> [1]	34:3, 6 HUNDRED
23:24; 24:10, 18,	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34]	9:12 <b>HOLLI</b> [1] 2:5	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12,	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11,	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19,	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4]	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12,	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16;	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1]	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  - I -
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  - I -  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23;
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4; 55:10	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5, 6, 7; 31:23;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY [3] 10:7, 12;	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  -I-  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23; 29:6, 10, 13,
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4; 55:10 HARRISON	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5, 6, 7; 31:23; 32:1, 2, 7,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY [3] 10:7, 12; 12:14	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  -I-  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23; 29:6, 10, 13, 14, 24;
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4; 55:10 HARRISON [2] 4:5;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5, 6, 7; 31:23; 32:1, 2, 7, 11; 33:5;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY [3] 10:7, 12; 12:14 HONORABLY	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  -I-  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23; 29:6, 10, 13, 14, 24; 30:6, 10, 15,
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4; 55:10 HARRISON	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5, 6, 7; 31:23; 32:1, 2, 7, 11; 33:5; 35:22; 40:5,	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY [3] 10:7, 12; 12:14 HONORABLY	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  -I-  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23; 29:6, 10, 13, 14, 24; 30:6, 10, 15, 18, 22, 23;
23:24; 24:10, 18, 20; 25:12, 24; 26:11, 15; 27:1, 2; 36:1, 7, 8; 37:5, 11, 12, 24; 44:24; 45:22, 23; 48:14, 17; 49:3, 4; 55:10 HARRISON [2] 4:5;	HELPING [2] 33:19; 55:2 HERE [34] 3:9; 4:1, 12; 5:22; 9:21; 13:10; 15:20; 16:9, 17; 17:14, 25; 20:22, 23; 21:5; 25:14; 27:16; 28:5, 6, 7; 31:23; 32:1, 2, 7, 11; 33:5;	9:12 HOLLI [1] 2:5 HOLOCAUST [2] 49:19, 22 HOME [4] 9:25; 31:16; 34:24 HONEST [1] 12:15 HONESTLY [3] 10:7, 12; 12:14 HONORABLY	34:3, 6 HUNDRED [1] 11:13 HUSBAND [1] 5:17  -I-  ICRC [23] 28:16, 23; 29:6, 10, 13, 14, 24; 30:6, 10, 15, 18, 22, 23; 32:5, 23;

5; 49:12; 50:24; 51:13 ICRC'S [1] 32:17 ICRL [1] 46:23 IDENTIFY [1] 56:19 IFHA [1] 46:19 IGNASIAK [3] 2:17; 33:4, 5 IGNORED [1] 8:3 ILLEGAL [1] 9:22 ILLUSTRIOU S [1] 4:16 IMMEDIATEL Y [2] 22:1; 34:21 IMPACT [9] 50:24; 51:1; 52:4, 12, 17; 53:3, 5, 15; 57:7 IMPACTS [1] 52:22 IMPAIRMENT [1] 24:9 IMPORTANC E [1] 22:10	[4] 29:4; 30:2; 39:9; 58:9 INCOMPETE NCE [1] 30:7 INCREASED [1] 19:7 INCURRED [1] 18:11 INDIANA [36] 1:1, 10, 14, 16, 23, 24; 2:7, 8, 9, 17; 5:21, 24; 14:2; 18:5, 7; 27:14; 33:6; 38:24, 25; 39:10; 40:9, 11, 15, 18, 24, 25; 41:3, 12, 18; 43:22; 44:2; 50:11; 57:18; 58:2, 6 INDIANAPOL IS [3] 1:16; 2:9; 50:8 INDICATIVE [1] 53:19 INDIRECT	[2] 29:12; 30:3 INFORMS [2] 29:22; 31:20 INITIAL [9] 3:15; 7:17; 16:18; 18:20; 21:13; 23:22; 25:15; 46:25; 54:2 INITIALLY [1] 12:13 INITIATE [1] 50:14 INJURIES [1] 18:10 INPUT [1] 24:7 INSENSITIVE [1] 23:17 INSTEAD [2] 24:7; 40:6 INSTRUCTED [1] 31:15 INSURANCE [2] 9:14, 20 INTAKE [7] 7:18; 12:14; 16:19; 28:16; 50:6,	[2] 17:14; 21:7 INTRODUCE D [1] 54:22 INVENTORY [2] 53:23; 54:3 INVESTIGAT ED [1] 22:1 INVESTIGATI ON [9] 18:6, 25; 21:14; 22:9; 24:4; 28:21; 34:22, 24; 35:3 INVESTIGATI ONS [3] 53:20, 21; 56:22 INVESTIGATI VE [1] 3:17 INVESTIGAT VE [1] 3:17 INVESTIGAT OR [6] 16:19; 17:16, 19; 25:8, 21; 28:22 INVESTOR [2] 25:10; 29:13 INVITED [1]
		16:19;	
			• •
<b>E</b> [1] 22:10	[1] 51:1	14; 56:22	INVOLVE [1]
	INDIRECTLY	• •	
	[1] 50:24		
32:19	INDIVIDUAL	INTERACTIO N [1] 42:19	
IMPRESSED [1] 28:25		INTERESTED	
IMPROPER		[1] 58:15	
		INTERRUPT	
INAPPLICAB		[1] 17:9	
	INFORMATIO	<b>INTO</b> [11]	14; 42:18,
INCIDENT	<b>N</b> [12] 8:2;	10:18; 13:3;	21
[1] 8:17	9:14; 16:20,	18:17; 24:7;	ISSUED [4]
10:11		28:11; 35:3; 42:6, 12;	
	25:6, 17;		0, 71.2
	26:1, 2, 6		
[.] 555	, _ , _ , _ ,	55.21, 55.16	

ISSUES [4] 24:21; 33:8; 35:24; 42:4 ISSUING [2] 40:6; 42:20 IT'S [3] 10:6, 22; 49:16 ITEMS [2] 50:4; 57:13 ITSELF [3] 22:24; 30:6;	51:13  - K -  KEEP [1] 49:15 KEPT [1] 9:8 KEVIN [1] 37:22	- L -  LABOR [1] 53:9  LACK [1] 35:12  LACY [1] 28:21  LANGUAGE [2] 44:10; 52:18	LEONARD [1] 2:22 LESLIE [1] 36:23 LETTERS [1] 7:14 LIBRARIES [1] 50:7 LIFE [1] 10:14 LIFE'S [1] 11:23
32:18 - <b>J</b> -	[4] 2:21; <b>-</b> 5:17; 27:14;	LANITA [1]	LIGHT [1] 18:22 LIKE [24]
	- <sup>28:4</sup> KIND [10]	46:8 <b>LAST</b> [7]	9:20; 10:23,
JACKSON [1] 6:14  JAMES [2] 47:20; 48:5  JANUARY [4] 7:21; 38:16; 48:11; 49:18  JENNY [4] 29:19; 30:21; 31:17, 19  JEREMY [4] 2:18; 5:15; 15:18; 17:25  JOIN [1] 19:11  JORDAN [1] 48:2  JUDGE [4] 38:15; 40:9; 46:12; 51:20  JUDICIAL [5] 51:15, 21, 25; 52:11; 54:10	50:23; 53:7, 19; 56:17 KINDS [2] 12:19; 55:3 KNEE [1] 13:3 KNEW [2] 24:24; 28:11 KNOW [37] 8:5, 23, 24; 9:10, 13, 18, 23; 10:11; 11:5, 8; 12:21, 23, 24; 13:2, 6, 8, 11, 12, 15, 17; 16:23; 17:13, 21; 23:1, 16, 20; 24:2; 32:7; 33:12, 21;	10:9; 19:8; 36:22; 45:8; 49:18  LATE [1] 5:10  LATER [4] 13:19; 29:12; 30:14; 58:10  LAUGH [2] 20:5, 6  LAUGHED [1] 20:3  LAUGHS [2] 31:12, 15  LAWS [4] 51:5; 52:3, 7; 53:15  LEARNED [1] 22:5  LEAVE [4] 9:2; 19:10;	25; 11:1, 7, 11, 19; 12:20; 13:10, 20; 27:18; 29:19; 30:21; 36:17; 43:11, 12; 44:13; 52:16; 54:15; 56:15, 16, 20, 25; 57:2 LIKEWISE [1] 16:6 LIMITED [1] 36:24 LINCOLN [1] 39:9 LINE [1] 31:22 LINKED [1] 43:5 LIPSCOMB [1] 6:10
JULY [1] 28:16 JURISDICTI ON [10] 11:18; 14:8, 18; 29:14, 23; 30:18;	52:10; 54:8; 56:2, 14 KNOWLEDGE [1] 24:9 KNOWN [1]	LEFT [3] 12:25; 46:6; 55:10 LEGISLATIV ELY [1] 50:16 LEGISLATUR E [1] 57:3	LIST [2] 57:1, 12 LISTED [1] 6:3 LISTEN [2] 29:20; 30:23 LISTENED [1] 31:24

LISTENING
[2] 22:3;
38:20
LITERAL [1]
29:25
LITIGATION
[1] 54:9
LITTLE [6]
3:9; 4:21; 5:10; 17:10;
43:17; 46:7
<b>LIVING</b> [5] 2:20; 5:17;
13:14;
15:19; 20:23
<b>LONG</b> [2] 20:11; 53:25
20:11; 53:25
LONGER [4]
29:7; 31:20; 46:7; 57:4
46:7; 57:4
LOOK [6] 7:17; 10:18;
11:7; 10:18; 11:7; 27:11;
55:14; 56:6
LOOKED [1]
56:19
LOOKING
[1] 56:9
LOOKS [2]
52:15; 56:15 <b>LOSE</b> [2]
51:21, 24
LOSES [1]
51:20
LOST [4]
9:25; 10:2;
45:3, 8
LOSTUTTER
[55] 2:12; 3:8, 24; 4:4,
3:8, 24; 4:4,
7, 10, 13,
15, 20;
5:12, 19; 6:5 16: 7:3:
6:5, 16; 7:3; 15:3, 6, 9,
15:3, 6, 9, 12, 14, 22;
16:1, 14; 22,
17:8; 20:19;
25:9, 20;
20.9, 20,

26:22,

25:

4:21;

11:2,

27:3, 6, 8; 36:3, 6, 9, 14; 12, 37:7, 10, 13, 16, 18; 38:9; 43:8; 45:17, 21, 24; 46:2, 4; 47:7; 48:20, 24; 49:2, 5, 8, 10 LOUDER [1] 17:10 LUTHERAN [1] 48:1 LYNCH [1] 37:25 LYNDSAY [2] 2:17;

33:5

- M -MACHINE [1] 58:8 **MADE** [19] 12:16; 14:6, 21; 21:23; 23:25; 24:1, 25:16; 30:15; 31:21; 35:12; 38:24; 39:2, 5: 40:9: 44:9; 45:11; 46:15; 58:9 MAIN [1] 53:7 MAINTAIN [1] 30:9 MAINTAININ **G** [1] 58:6 MAINTAINS [1] 30:23 MAJOR [1] 11:23 MAKE [20] 25: 3:15,

25:15, 21; 26:5; 27:24; 30:12; 42:6, 25: 44:8, 14; 56:4, 21 MAKING [4] 24:25; 27:11; 45:6; 53:14 MANAGEMEN **T** [4] 20:2; 28:11: 46:9: 48:5 MANAGER [2] 16:25; 54:25 MANNER [1] 22:4 MANY [1] 10:2 MARCH [8] 6:11; 8:11; 21:22; 50:2; 55:15, 19, 23; 56:15 MARILYN [1] 31:25 MARK [1] 55:23 MATTER [12] 1:10; 10:6; 21:3; 30:17; 32:7; 38:16; 39:14; 44:3; 46:12, 14; 47:3, 5 MATTERS [2] 51:12, 15 MAYBE [2] 54:14; 56:20 MEAD [1] 48:6 MEAN [8] 8:1; 10:1, 3, 4, 6, 22; 13:18; 25:22

7; 13:14;

24:21;

MEANING [1] 9:18 MEDIA [2] 49:25; 50:3 **MEDIATION** [3] 29:5, 8 **MEDIATOR** [1] 29:6 MEDICAL [1] 9:9 **MEET** [2] 53:18, 24 **MEETING** [22] 1:5; 3:6, 12, 22; 4:22; 6:11; 19:10, 12; 31:4, 6, 22; 34:5, 14, 16, 47:9; 21; 48:12; 49:18: 55:14: 56:15; 57:18 **MEETINGS** [6] 19:2, 6, 8, 15; 20:4 MEIJER [2] 6:10; 36:24 MELVIN [1] 6:9 MEMBER [1] 38:17 **MEMBERS** [2] 2:3; 3:18 **MENTIONED** [1] 51:9 MESSAGE [1] 17:10 **MESSAGES** [1] 7:23 **METRICS** [1] 53:17 MICHAEL [1] 2:12 MIGHT [3] 23:14; 44:4; 53:25

MINE [1]	
32:6	11:22; 19:2,
	3; 23:15;
	27:11, 18;
MINUTE [2]	34:23;
19:23; 32:4	36:16;
	52:25;
	53:12; 54:2;
16:2; 19:8;	
32:3; 44:6;	
45:9; 47:9,	[2] 8:1;
14; 48:11	19:7
MISTAKE	MOST [1]
[1] 4:16	32:18
	MOTION
[2] 39:24;	[14] 14:6,
40:7	20, 23;
MOCKED [1]	26:17; 37:2;
20:2	43:13, 15;
MOCKING	44:8, 14;
[1] 10.21	45:5, 10, 13;
MODIFICATI	
ON [3]	
44:16; 45:5,	
12	8:5; 14:7,
MODIFY [3]	16; 46:14;
41:14, 25;	51:6
43:20	<b>MOVED</b> [10]
	26:18;
[2] 41:15;	27:10; 37:3;
	44:4, 21, 22;
MOMENT [1]	50:20, 21
43:12 <b>MONDAY</b> [1]	MOVES [1]
1:16	42:22
MONEY [1] 53:4	<b>MOVING</b> [3] 29:3; 44:11;
MONITOR	46:22
[1] 19:21	MUCH [4]
MONROE [1]	6:1; 10:13;
31:25	12:7, 8
MONTH [8]	MULTIPLE
6:18, 21, 22;	[1] 19:6
	MUST [4]
49:25; 50:1,	3:17; 38:25;
2	39:7, 11
MONTH'S	MYSELF [4]
[1] 57:18	13:13; 28:7;
<b>MONTHS</b> [2]	30:16; 36:23
13:19; 29:6	00.10, 00.20
10.10, 20.0	

- N -
N300 [2]
1:16; 2:9
NAME [4]
17:25;
20:21; 28:4;
33:5
NAPIER [1]
48:6
NATURE [2]
7:15; 52:13
NECESSARY
[1] 29:19
NEED [6] 4:25; 6:3; 7:11; 30:11; 44:20; 47:8
4:25; 6:3;
7:11; 30:11;
44:20: 47:8
NEEDED [1]
16:20
NEEDING
[1] 4:24
NEGLIGENC
E [1] 30:7
<b>NEVER</b> [7] 7:13; 10:13;
7:13; 10:13;
17:18; 20:3;
29:24; 34:4,
6
NEWS [1]
28:17
NEXT [16] 6:12, 18, 19;
6:12, 18, 19;
15:18;
16:22;
26:14;
27:13; 46:7;
47:6. 19. 23.
47:6, 19, 23, 24; 48:2, 3;
55:23
NON-PROFIT
[1] 33:18
NON-SURVIV
OR [1] 28:8
NONDISCRIM
INATION [1]
39:8
NONFINAL
[4] 39:24; 42:4, 8, 20
42:4, 8, 20

- N -

NORTH [4] 1:15; 2:8, 9 NORTHWEST [1] 50:11 NOTARIAL [1] 58:18 NOTARY [3] 1:13; 58:5, 24 NOTE [2] 5:10; 38:6 NOTED [1] 23:6 NOTES [1] 58:10 NOTHING [7] 8:13; 15:15; 28:12; 29:15; 32:9; 35:5 NOTICE [6] 3:16; 9:11; 14:15; 18:14; 46:17, 21 NOTICES [1] 39:8 NOTIFIED [2] 8:13; 13:19 NOTIFY [1] 9:7 **NOVO** [1] 51:16 NUMBER [1] 34:8 NUMEROUS [1] 20:7

- 0 -

OALP [1] 39:18 **OBJECTION** [7] 38:7; 39:14, 16, 17, 21, 23; 47:3

OBJECTION	7, 15; 42:3,	ORDER [22]	<b>P.M.</b> [3]
<b>S</b> [1] 58:9	21	3:6; 8:4;	1:17; 57:16,
OBVIOUSLY	ONE-ON-ON	39:7, 24;	20
[2] 33:21;	<b>E</b> [1] 19:6	40:4, 5, 14,	PACE [1]
40:11	ONES [1]	21; 41:14,	53:17
OCCASIONS	23:16	15; 42:1, 4,	
[1] 34:8	<b>ONLY</b> [8]	8, 18, 20,	17:20
OCCURRED	13:12;	25; 43:2, 4,	PACKET [2]
[3] 8:17, 18;	18:23; 24:8;	21, 25;	21:16; 25:11
22:23	40:23;	45:12, 18	PAGE [2]
OCTOBER	41:12;	ORDERED	40:13, 21
[1] 29:11	50:19;	[1] 38:22	PAHA210602
OFFENSIVE	57:12, 16	ORDERS [3]	<b>15</b> [1] 48:3
[2] 21:23;	<b>OPEN</b> [3]		
23:17	53:19, 20;	40:1	<b>22</b> [1]
OFFER [2]	54:9	ORGANIZATI	47:19
	OPENED [1]	<b>ON</b> [1]	PAIGE [1]
OFFICE [7]		33:19	28:5
	OPERATION		
25:18;	ALLY [1]	[1] 18:2	
28:24; 35:3;		ORTHO [1]	
51:11	OPINION [3]	• •	<b>NS</b> [1]
OFFICES [1]	30:17, 24;	ORTHOPEDI	19:22
58:6	32:24	<b>CS</b> [1] 9:11	
OFFICIALLY	OPINIONS	OTHER [13]	[1] 11:11
[1] 17:18	[1] 30:15	12:1; 22:12;	
OKAY [38]		27:10;	<b>15</b> [1]
6:8, 17, 25;	TIES [1]	28:23; 29:1;	
7:4, 9, 10;	34:9	41:18; 47:7;	
12:6, 7;	OPPORTUNI	50:3; 52:19;	<b>81</b> [1] 6:10
14:20; 15:1,		54:4; 56:6,	
	21:11, 20;	8, 23	[9] 7:18;
16:11, 13;		OUTCOME	
24:10;			
26:16;	[1] 42:1	32:21	41:16;
27:20, 23;	= =	OUTREACH	43:23, 25
36:2; 38:2,		[1] 54:25	
	OPTION [1]	OUTSIDE [1]	
	14:11	30:18	PARIS [3]
43:10; 45:4,		<b>OVER</b> [6]	2:13; 5:24;
	[2] 32:13,		54:24
47:10;	14	19:13, 14;	
48:16, 22;		29:12; 30:5;	
49:11;	3:12; 5:2,	47:14	21:15;
	14; 7:1;	OVERALL	25:11;
	15:20;	[1] 32:20	44:18;
	27:16; 38:21	[1] 02.20	46:18; 56:18
ONCE [8]			PARTICIPAN
8:7; 19:5;		- P -	TS [1] 5:15
27:18; 34:4,			10 [1] 0.10
21.10, 34.4,	30.3		

PARTICIPATI	39:14, 16;	POINTE [2]	PREVIOUS
<b>ON</b> [1] 4:25	47:3	1:24; 6:13	[2] 16:4;
PARTIES [6]	PERIODS	POLICE [1]	47:8
15:21;	[1] 20:12	34:5	PREVIOUSLY
16:12;	PERMISSIBL	PONDS [1]	[2] 3:12;
46:16; 47:1;		1:24	14:5
58:8, 14	PERMITTED	POOR [2]	PRIOR [4]
PARTNERS	[2] 40:23;	22:4; 31:1	8:17; 17:16;
[1] 52:3	41:12	POORLY [1]	31:21; 33:10
PARTNERSH	PERSON [3]	23:14	PRIVILEGED
IP [1] 36:24 PARTS [1]	11:5; 38:18;	PORTION	[1] 32:22 PROBABLE
4:24	54:22 PERVASIVE	[1] 57:7 <b>POSITION</b>	
PARTY [2]			[7] 14:1;
	[2] 22:25;	[1] 21:19	22:22; 25:3;
3:10; 27:15	23:18	POSITIONS	26:10; 33:7;
PASSIVE [1]	PETITIONS	[1] 19:25	35:23; 37:1
24:5	[1] 21:7	POST [1]	PROBABLY
PAST [1]	PHILLIPS	39:7	[4] 3:25;
56:18	[1] 38:14	POST-FILIN	9:19; 45:9;
PASTE [1]	PHONE [2]	<b>G</b> [1] 19:16	57:4
42:10	5:11, 13	POSTER [3]	PROBATION
PATTERSON	PHRASE [2]	53:9, 11, 16	<b>ARY</b> [1]
[1] 28:22	22:2, 3	POWER [1]	33:18
PAYABLE	PHRASES	42:23	PROBLEM
[2] 38:24;	[1] 23:13	PRACTICE	[1] 10:14
39:3	PLACE [4]	[4] 22:23;	PROCEDURA
PAYMENT	33:11;	52:4, 9, 16	<b>LLY</b> [1]
[1] 54:1	34:24; 35:4;	PREHEARIN	41:25
PENALTIES	47:14	<b>G</b> [1] 46:25	PROCEDURE
[1] 40:23	PLACED [1]	PREJUDICE	<b>S</b> [1] 40:2
PENALTY	34:23	[1] 46:20	PROCEEDIN
[5] 38:23;	PLACES [1]	PRELIMINAR	<b>G</b> [2]
40:22; 41:1,	39:8	Y [1] 21:3	51:11, 16
2, 12	PLAN [1]	PREPARED	PROCEEDIN
PENDING	55:2	[2] 6:23, 25	
	PLAYED [1]		
PEOPLE [3]		[8] 2:11, 16;	
	PLAYING [1]	= =	
39:12	24:8	24:22;	PROCESS
PERCENT			[6] 28:21;
[1] 11:13	PLAYS [2]	37:21; 58:9	
	52:9, 14		36:20;
	PLEASE [3]		
CE [3]		[1] 24:24	
31:1; 34:15;		PRESIDENT	
35:12	PLENTY [2]		PROFESSIO
PERFORMED		PRETTY [1]	
[1] 33:22	POINT [4]		22:11
PERIOD [4]			PROPERLY
33:18;	21:12; 53:2	[1] 22:14	[1] 44:5

PROPERTIES	QUALIFIED	READING	20; 30:3,
[1] 39:9	[1] 20:1	[1] 47:12	23; 31:24
PROPERTY	QUESTION	REAL [1]	RECORDS
[3] 42:4;	[6] 11:17;	10:18	[1] 9:10
46:9; 48:4	14:24;	REALITY [1]	REDUCED
PROPOSE	23:25; 25:4;	28:14	[1] 58:10
[1] 25:25	55:23; 56:24	REALLY [5]	REFERENCE
PROTECTED	QUESTIONE	8:8; 10:25;	[2] 10:8;
[3] 23:8;	<b>D</b> [1] 13:7	11:3, 10;	41:18
38:17; 39:13	QUESTIONS	29:18	REFERENCE
PROUD [1]	[20] 3:20;	REASON [4]	<b>S</b> [2] 40:9;
21:19	7:7; 11:15;	7:12; 9:15;	43:22
PROVIDE	12:1, 2;	11:8; 41:25	REFERRING
[1] 51:7	14:4; 16:6;	REASONING	[1] 24:5
PROVIDED	23:23;	[1] 9:5	REFLECTED
[4] 26:2;	24:12, 15;	REASONS	[1] 44:5
28:20;	26:4; 35:16,	[1] 20:13	REGARD [1]
29:18; 30:2	17, 18;	RECEIVE [1]	• •
PROVIDING	41:23;	17:23	REGARDING
[1] 52:21	50:14;	RECEIVED	
PROVISION	54:16, 19;	[5] 17:3, 18,	
[1] 51:19	55:12	19; 18:13;	
PROVISIONS	QUICKLY	25:19	REGULAR
[1] 44:1	[1] 50:17	RECENT [1]	[2] 55:13;
PUBLIC [11]	QUORUM [2]	49:23	56:9
1:5, 13;	3:7; 4:1	RECOMMEN	
38:16;	QUOTE [1]	D [1] 35:22	
39:13;	28:17	RECOMMEN	
40:10; 50:7,	20.17	DATION [9]	
13; 54:4;			[1] 14:15
57:15; 58:5,	- R -	3; 24:19;	RELATED
24		26:8; 36:25;	
PUBLICLY	RACE [1]		RELATIVE
	39:12	· ·	
[1] 20:2	RAISE [1]	44:14; 56:21	
PULL [1]	21:12	RECOMMEN	14
53:1	RAISED [3]	DED [4]	RELEVANT
PULLED [1]	21:3, 15;	43:20; 44:9,	[1] 21:5
31:25	23:11	15; 45:11	RELIEVES
PURPOSE	RATING [1]	RECOMMEN	[1] 9:10
[1] 9:18	32:17	DS [1]	RELIGIOUS
PURPOSES	REACH [1]	43:18	[1] 51:2
[1] 9:24	17:23	RECONSIDE	REMAIN [1]
PUSH [1]	REACHED	R [1] 32:23	57:8
13:17	[1] 53:12	RECORD [6]	REMAINED
PUSHED [1]	<b>READ</b> [8]	6:9; 30:24;	[1] 35:7
18:7	3:9; 6:3, 7,	44:18;	REMAINING
	8; 17:17;	47:13;	[1] 22:10
- Q -	38:11;	54:21; 58:11	• •
	43:12, 15	RECORDING	
		[5] 29:18,	26:13

REMEDIES	REPRESENT	RESPONSE	52:12 20:
[1] 52:12	ATIVE [2]	[3] 17:18,	
REMEMBRAN	16:3, 7	24; 25:18	
CE [1]	REPRESENTI	RESTATE	31:8
49:19	NG [3]	[1] 43:18	<b>ROAD</b> [1]
REMEMBRAN	5:16, 21;	RESUBMITTI	10:22
CES [1]		NG [1] 42:2	ROBERT [1]
	55:1 REQUEST	RESULT [2]	
49:22 REMODIFY			48:6 ROBINSON
	[3] 35:14;	18:11; 46:24 <b>RESUME</b> [1]	[10] 2:19;
[1] 43:18	46:13, 15 <b>REQUESTED</b>		5:14; 6:19,
<b>REMOVE</b> [5]	[2] 16:22;	10:15 <b>RETALIATIO</b>	23; 7:9, 11;
18:24;	17:5		12:3, 9, 12;
41:20; 43:22, 23;		<b>N</b> [8] 12:20; 28:18;	
	REQUESTS	29:14, 23;	38:14
44:1	[1] 23:21 <b>REQUIRED</b>		ROBINSON'S
REMOVED		32:10, 24;	[1] 11:21
[1] 20:8	[1] 26:3	33:9, 13	ROGER [1]
REMOVING	REQUIREME	<b>RETURN</b> [2]	47:18
[2] 41:16,	NTS [2]	31:17, 19	ROLE [7]
18	39:20; 52:6	RETURNED	4:1; 15:4;
RENDER [1]	RESIDENCE	[1] 56:3	26:23; 36:4;
39:20	[1] 58:24	REVERSE	37:8; 45:18;
RENT [1]	RESIDING	[1] 32:10	48:25
10:5	[1] 58:5	REVERT [1]	ROOM [5]
RENTAL [1]	RESIGN [1]	53:1	1:16; 2:9;
37:23	31:7	REVIEW [7]	
REPEAT [1]	RESOURCES	5:5; 29:17; 30:1; 38:5;	34:25
14:13	[3] 18:23;		ROOTING
REPEATED	21:25; 22:8	51:15, 21, 25	[1] 29:2
[2] 27:18;	RESPECTFU	REVIEWED	ROUGH [2]
33:23	LLY [4]	[3] 25:7;	10:6, 22
REPEATEDL	21:6; 23:21;		
Y [1] 34:11			
	RESPONDED		
	[1] 7:13	RIGHT [8]	19:14
REPORT	RESPONDEN		
[10] 3:17;		12:5; 13:9;	- S -
	13; 9:1;		
	16:3; 20:22;		<b>SAID</b> [8]
31:14;	38:19, 22;		10:23;
33:10;	39:5, 7, 11; 40:22;		11:11;
42:13;		5:24; 14:2,	12:12;
47:16; 49:13 <b>REPORTED</b>	46:20; 51:23	17, 22;	13:10;
	RESPONDEN	28:22;	16:20, 25;
[1] 58:7	T'S [4]	30:12; 31:3;	43:11; 57:15
	16:7; 21:18;		SALES [1]
[1] 58:5	27:22; 46:13		16:25
REPORTING [1] 1:23		3, 11; 51:5;	SAME [5]
[1] 1.23	<b>G</b> [1] 11:4	$\sigma$ , ii, $\sigma$ 1.5,	21:10;
			27:17;

	50:19, 22;		
39:6	52:22; 53:8	29:24; 44:5	47:18
SANTIAGO	SEND [2]		SITE [1]
	6:15; 28:18	= =	
SARAH [2]	SENIOR [4]	SHOWN [1]	SITTING [1]
	2:20; 5:16;		31:23
SAYING [2]	15:19; 20:23	SHUT [1]	SITUATED
13:12; 25:13	SENSE [2]	10:5	[1] 23:8
SAYS [4]	9:17; 11:8	SICK [1]	SITUATION
8:25; 38:6;	SERIOUSLY	31:14	[1] 40:12
54:2; 57:3	[2] 34:19;	SIDE [1]	<b>SLASH</b> [99]
SCHEDULED	35:6	16:2	1:11; 2:4;
[2] 3:12;	SERVICE [1]	SIGNATURE	3:4, 23;
19:5	18:12	[1] 58:18	4:13, 14, 18;
SCHOOL [1]	SERVICE-CO	SILBERBER	5:9; 6:1, 8,
48:1	NNECTED	<b>G</b> [38] 2:5;	17, 24; 7:4,
SCOFFS [1]	[1] 18:13	4:2, 3; 12:2,	10; 11:14,
31:15	SESSION [1]	4; 14:21,	25; 12:6,
SCOTT [1]	50:16	24, 25;	
47:23	SETTING [1]	15:4; 24:12,	14:10, 20;
SEAL [2]	54:11	13; 26:20,	15:1, 12, 13,
58:18, 24	SEVERAL	23, 24;	16, 23;
SECOND	[3] 21:4;	28:2, 3;	16:8, 11;
[20] 14:19;	54:6	35:17, 18;	19:23;
25:4, 25;			20:18, 20;
26:12, 19,		37:8, 9;	
	23:18; 24:25		
	SEXUAL [9]		
	28:8, 10, 13,		
23, 24;	25; 30:24;	25; 49:1;	9, 13, 20;
45:14, 15;	31:5; 33:20;		28:1; 32:4;
	34:17; 35:8		
	SHAMEFUL		19, 25;
	[1] 30:9		
SECONDED	SHAPE [1]	32:2	16; 37:4, 6,
[1] 14:23		SIMILARLY	16, 17, 20;
	SHARE [1]		38:4, 10, 13;
43:24, 25;		SIMPLY [1]	
55:13	SHOCKED	33:11	8, 22; 43:4,
	[1] 57:17		
	SHORT [2]		
	7:18; 50:16		
	SHORTHAND		
	[2] 58:8, 10		
	SHORTLY	46:16; 54:14	
	[1] 31:12		
	SHOULD [7]		11, 15;
54:13		SINGLE [3]	
		28:7; 31:23;	
1:15; 2:9;	,	34:5	17, 22;
•			•

F.G.: 1 12:	21.17 10.	44:16;	CHDCCDIDE
56:1, 13;			
57:11	32:23	45:12; 58:12	
SOCIAL [2]	SPEAKING	STATEMENT	
49:24; 50:3		[4] 7:19;	
SOFTLY [1]		8:18; 17:13;	
10:21	SPEAKS [1]	21:18	SUBSTANTIA
SOLD [1]	32:18	STATEMENT	<b>L</b> [1] 52:5
10:1	SPECIALIST	<b>S</b> [6] 17:4,	
SOLELY [1]	[3] 28:10,	6; 18:16,	<b>TED</b> [1]
30:19	16; 50:6	20, 21; 19:1	35:9
<b>SOME</b> [13]	SPECIFICAL	STATES [1]	SUCH [3]
38:5; 39:19,	<b>LY</b> [3]	18:10	9:3; 23:16;
23; 49:24;	29:17; 34:3;	STATION [1]	58:14
50:3, 23;	43:23	38:14	SUGGESTED
52:1, 9, 10,	SPEND [1]	STATUS [1]	[1] 31:8
18, 22;	53:4	18:21	SUPERCEDE
56:17; 57:12		STILL [8]	<b>D</b> [1] 18:4
SOMEBODY	[1] 46:8	7:11; 8:21;	SUPERVISO
[3] 9:23;		13:21;	<b>R</b> [5] 7:24;
11:4; 50:13	• •	36:19;	20:8; 24:1;
	SPOKEN [2]		
[1] 43:14	16:19; 58:8	8; 57:8	SUPERVISO
SOMETHING		STONE [1]	
			RS [1] 20:5 SUPPORT
[7] 10:19;	[1] 47:24	13:2	
11:1; 12:10;		STOP [1]	[1] 52:21
24:6; 42:16;		32:19	SUPPOSED
51:6; 53:5			[3] 13:16;
SOMEWHER			
<b>E</b> [2] 20:9;		STORES [2]	
30:5	54:22;	36:24; 48:3	3:25; 10:23;
SOMNATH	55:12; 56:21		12:11, 16;
[1] 47:18	STANCE [1]	8:15; 11:2,	24:21;
<b>SOON</b> [1]	32:25	6	25:15, 21;
4:24	STAND [2]	STUFF [2]	27:23, 24;
SORRY [12]	20:11; 32:2	55:3; 57:7	43:19; 47:6;
4:8, 15;	STANDING	SUBJECT	53:14; 56:4
5:20; 8:16;	[1] 20:14	[1] 14:8	SURGERIES
10:15, 19;	STAR [1]	SUBJECTED	[1] 20:11
14:13;	32:17	[1] 19:7	SURVIVOR
19:16; 43:9;		SUBMISSION	
	34:3, 22;		SWIFT [1]
56:1	50:5	SUBMITTAL	
SORT [1]	STATE [6]		SWITCH [1]
16:22	1:1, 14;	SUBMITTED	4:21
SOUTH [1]	4:17; 23:6;	[4] 17:15;	
39:10	52:25; 58:2	21:9; 25:7;	<del></del>
	<b>STATED</b> [7]		- T -
	12:7; 18:14;		TABLE [2]
17.8, 28.5;	21:18; 30:8;	[1] 30.19	20:14, 16

TACTIC [1]	<b>THANK</b> [36]		9:24; 23:20;
29:9		42:19;	39:19; 40:12
TACTICS [1]	5:9; 6:1;	52:21, 25;	THESE [6]
31:13	11:14, 25;	53:1; 55:3;	19:19;
TAKE [6]	12:6; 13:22,	56:20	21:12; 22:9;
33:11;	23; 15:1,	<b>THEN</b> [28]	23:13;
34:24; 35:5;	16, 17, 23;	5:3, 5, 7;	42:15; 47:12
43:12;	16:13;	7:6, 8; 8:9,	<b>THEY</b> [30]
44:10; 48:16	20:20;	14; 9:21;	7:7; 8:7;
TAKEN [2]	24:14;	10:18;	9:1, 4, 12,
1:12; 20:15	26:21;	25:16; 26:5;	13, 15, 16,
TAKES [1]	27:12; 33:2;	27:21;	19; 10:17,
34:18	35:15, 19;		20; 13:20;
TALKS [2]	36:19, 21;	40:20;	16:9; 17:11;
40:14, 17	37:4, 6, 20;	41:14, 17;	18:6; 20:5;
<b>TAMMY</b> [7]	39:15;	42:15, 17,	23:17, 18;
29:12, 16,	45:16;	21; 45:8;	29:2, 7;
20, 21;	49:14;	47:15;	30:10, 11;
30:1, 3, 21	54:16; 55:5,		34:19, 20;
TAWANDA	8, 22; 57:11		
[1] 6:12	THANKFUL		
TELL [1]	[1] 32:21	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
41:22	THAT'S [21]		
TELLS [2]		8:9; 11:5;	8:21; 13:12;
13:15; 28:23		12:19, 20;	16:22;
TERMINATE	11:4, 8;	13:6; 14:1;	
	13:14;	22:22; 24:6,	
35:7	20:18;	20, 23;	
TERMINATE	25:22; 38:2;		
<b>D</b> [6] 7:20;	40:18; 41:4,		
8:16, 20;	6, 10;	18; 26:9,	
13:18;	42:11;	16, 19;	19:19;
	43:10; 53:3,		42:22; 46:6;
		33:15, 16,	
	55:20		
35:11		16, 21, 25;	
TERMINATIO		37:2; 38:7;	
		39:19; 40:8,	
			23:12;
23:4; 25:1	30:24;	25; 44:23;	
<b>TEDDV</b> [4]	30.24,	47:4; 50:12,	
		15, 18;	
TESTIMONY			
		51:18, 19;	
		52:6, 8, 23, 24; 57:4,	
58:12	8:21; 9:8,	13, 14 Tuedefode	56:16, 23
		THEREFORE	
7:23 <b>THAN</b> [2]		[7] 7:15;	
		8:6, 19;	
23:7; 54:2	JU. 18,		48:21, 22

<b>THIS</b> [54]	THROUGH	TOLD [7]	TRAUMA [1]
3:5; 10:2, 7,	[10] 13:13,	8:21; 13:20;	30:11
17; 12:20;	17, 24;	18:15; 20:9;	TREATED
15:20;	18:3; 34:10,	28:15;	[2] 17:6;
18:18;	14; 42:14;	29:25; 31:9	23:7
20:24; 21:5;		TOLERATE	TRINITY [1]
22:16, 17;		[1] 21:20	47:25
24:17;	THROUGHOU	TOLLIVER	
27:16;	<b>T</b> [2] 41:20;	[43] 2:4;	
28:12; 29:9;	= =	4:11, 12;	TRUSTED
31:21; 33:8,		11:16; 14:7,	[1] 13:8
17; 34:7,		16; 15:10,	TRYING [1]
13, 17, 18;		11; 24:16;	
35:6, 14;			
38:6, 16;		5, 17;	8:8
39:7, 14;		35:20, 21;	TYPE [1]
40:10, 12,		36:10, 11;	13:11
16; 41:14,		37:3, 14, 15;	TYPES [1]
23; 42:9;	18, 19;	38:2, 3;	42:15
44:2; 45:6,			TYPEWRITTE
	25:7, 19;		
14; 47:3, 4,			TYPICALLY
5; 48:9;		44:11, 17,	[2] 40:3;
49:12; 50:8;			50:5
52:17; 53:2,		46:1; 48:13,	00.0
24; 54:24;	TIMEFRAME		
		15, 18; 49:6 7:	- U -
55:11; 56:9;	[1] 26:3	49:6, 7;	
55:11; 56:9; 57:17;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE	49:6, 7; 54:17;	ULTIMATE
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14,	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1]	[1] 26:3 <b>TIMELINE</b> [4] 25:14, 18, 23;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2	[1] 26:3 <b>TIMELINE</b> [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6]	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21,
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20]	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1]	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 <b>TOOK</b> [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1]	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 <b>TOOK</b> [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1]	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2]	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1]	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2]
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1]	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30]
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12]	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 <b>THOMAS</b> [1] 48:2 <b>THOSE</b> [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2]	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4,	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20; 43:7	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5; 32:1, 8, 11;	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING [5] 34:9;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20; 40:13, 14,
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20; 43:7 THREE [4]	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5; 32:1, 8, 11; 49:16; 51:10	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING [5] 34:9; 56:8, 9, 19;	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20; 40:13, 14, 17, 20, 23;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20; 43:7 THREE [4] 13:19; 33:8;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5; 32:1, 8, 11; 49:16; 51:10 TOGETHER	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING [5] 34:9; 56:8, 9, 19; 57:1	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20; 40:13, 14, 17, 20, 23; 41:2, 12;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20; 43:7 THREE [4]	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5; 32:1, 8, 11; 49:16; 51:10 TOGETHER	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING [5] 34:9; 56:8, 9, 19; 57:1 TRANSCRIPT	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20; 40:13, 14, 17, 20, 23; 41:2, 12; 42:23;
55:11; 56:9; 57:17; 58:15, 18 THOMAS [1] 48:2 THOSE [20] 23:7; 24:25; 35:13; 40:3; 41:17, 21; 42:7, 8, 17; 50:19; 51:14, 23; 52:3, 10; 53:1, 7, 13; 56:17; 57:9 THOUGH [2] 30:16; 43:11 THOUGHT [2] 22:20; 43:7 THREE [4] 13:19; 33:8;	[1] 26:3 TIMELINE [4] 25:14, 18, 23; 26:13 TIMELY [1] 39:21 TIMER [1] 16:9 TIMES [2] 49:23; 53:25 TITLE [1] 51:3 TODAY [12] 6:22; 10:5; 16:17; 21:17; 23:11; 27:16; 28:5; 32:1, 8, 11; 49:16; 51:10 TOGETHER	49:6, 7; 54:17; 55:16, 25; 57:2 TOOK [6] 9:2; 22:12; 23:1; 35:3; 46:12; 57:16 TOOL [1] 10:3 TOOTH [1] 24:6 TRACKING [2] 50:22; 53:8 TRAFFICKIN G [2] 34:4, 6 TRAINING [5] 34:9; 56:8, 9, 19; 57:1	ULTIMATE [9] 31:2; 39:21; 40:2; 42:5, 14, 21, 22; 51:12; 57:4 ULTIMATELY [3] 32:6; 35:6; 44:17 UNABLE [2] 17:23; 23:6 UNDER [30] 10:1; 11:19; 12:24; 13:11; 14:2; 17:1; 20:1; 24:25; 39:20; 40:13, 14, 17, 20, 23; 41:2, 12;

22; 51:3, 4,	UPO
5 10 13	
5, 10, 13, 19; 52:19;	II D V
53:20	[1]
	USE
UNDERSIGN	
<b>ED</b> [1] 58:5	22:4
	USE
<b>D</b> [2] 11:1;	
	UTI
	[1]
	UTI
24:3	[1]
UNDERSTAN	
<b>DS</b> [1]	
34:15	
UNFAIR [1]	VEF
30:4	26:
IINEADTIINA	VEF
<b>TELY</b> [2]	[2]
<b>TELY</b> [2] 13:24; 32:14	
<b>UNIT</b> [1]	26:5
29:13	VEF
UNITED [1]	[17]
10.0	12,
UNLAWFUL	15:
[4] 20.4	27:
UNLESS [1]	36:2
3:18	37:2
UNREAL [1]	38:
10:3	47:
HNTH (401	23,
UNTIL [10] 3:22; 6:18;	48:2
3:22; 0:18;	VEF
8:10, 14; 9:11; 13:19;	6:1, 7:17
9:11; 13:19;	7:17
19:10;	7;
30:25;	28:
31:16; 52:14	32:2
UNTIMELY	34:
[1] 21:15	46:
UNWELCOM	VET
<b>E</b> [2] 22:15;	[2]
23:1	VET
UPCOMING	[1]
[1] 55:14	VET
UPHELD [2]	
21:1; 35:14	[2]
UPHOLD [5]	15
23:22;	VIC
32:25; 33:7;	28:7
35:23; 37:1	32:
55.25, 57.1	

UPON			,		
UPUN	L	1	J		
34:4					
UPWARDS					
[1] 19:8					
USED	[	1	]		
22:4					
USES	[	1	]		
22:6					
UTILIZED	)				
[1] 29:10	)				
UTILIZIN	G				
[1] 31:13	3				

- V -

RIFY [2] 1, 13 RIFYING 25:6; 5 RSUS 6:10, 19; 19; 14; 23; 22, 25; 14; 46:8; 20, 18, 25; 2, 4, 6 **RY** [13] 25; 7; 12:5, 19:17: 13; 20, 21; 19; 35:6; 5; 55:6 ΓERAN 18:9, 21 TERAN'S 53:8 TERANS 53:10, TIM [3] 7, 10; 19

VICTIMS [2]
33:19; 34:20
VILLAIRE
[1] 47:21
VIOLENCE
[2] 28:8, 10
VISUALLY
[1] 3:6
VOICES [1]
28:9
VOLUNTEER
ED [1] 34:1
VOTE [2]
46:6; 47:8

### - W -

**WAIT** [2] 3:21; 8:9 WALKED [1] 34:10 WALTON [5] 2:13; 5:24; 54:24; 55:5, WANT [8] 12:17; 15:25; 17:8; 24:21; 25:15; 27:24; 38:10; 44:10 WANTED [3] 17:20; 29:7; 57:12 WASN'T [4] 13:1, 18; 20:14; 29:18 WASTE [2] 12:17; 32:3 WASTED [1] 32:6 WATER [1] 10:5 WAYS [1] 12:20 WEAR [1] 19:21 WEBINAR

[1] 50:3

WEBSITE [2] 18:4; 39:11 WEEK [1] 19:5 WEEKS [1] 8:3 WELCOME [2] 23:23; 33:3 **WELL** [13] 5:12; 6:19, 24; 7:2, 4; 9:20: 12:5, 7; 16:10; 18:21; 24:15; 25:12; 50:12 **WELL-ATTE** NDED [1] 49:20 **WELL-RECEI** VED [1] 49:20 WENT [2] 19:5; 29:16 **WERE** [15] 10:8, 10; 17:5; 18:7, 11, 16, 17, 19; 23:16; 30:15; 33:15, 16; 35:21; 50:18 WHATEVER [1] 12:24 WHENEVER [2] 10:11; 20:4 **WHERE** [9] 9:3: 19:9, 20; 31:6; 50:6, 11: 51:1, 19; 52:23 WHETHER [3] 17:19; 24:24; 52:3 WHICH [23]

5:1, 2; 7:17,

20, 25; 8:10, 11; 9:12; 20:2; 21:1; 23:9;	WING [1] 34:4 WISH [2] 56:25; 57:12	WORKING [2] 34:23; 50:10 WORKS [1]
33:15;	WISHES [1]	41:23
34:22;	22:19	WORMS [1]
40:13, 15, 21; 44:1;	<b>WITHIN</b> [9] 19:25; 26:2;	9:17 <b>WORN</b> [1]
46:23;	33:14, 17,	31:25
49:20;	20; 35:13;	WORSE [1]
50:17;	38:23; 39:6;	30:12
56:11, 13;	54:25	<b>WOULD</b> [65]
58:11	WITHOUT	10:10;
WHOEVER	[3] 9:22;	11:12;
[1] 30:22	16:23; 55:11	12:24; 13:8,
WHOLE [3]	WITHSTANDI	13; 14:3, 7,
8:20; 13:21;	<b>NG</b> [2]	16; 17:17;
28:12	33:12; 35:8	19:8, 9, 10,
WHOSE [1]	WITNESS	11, 15, 18;
28:9	[3] 17:4;	20:4, 6, 9;
WILL [67]	58:12, 18	25:2, 10, 20,
3:5, 8, 10,	WITNESSES	22, 25;
14; 4:1, 18, 23; 5:1, 3,	[4] 17:4;	27:18; 28:12; 30:1;
4; 6:2, 8,	18:16, 17, 19 <b>WOMEN</b> [2]	31:22, 23;
18, 25; 7:5,	28:24; 29:1	31.22, 23, 32:1, 2;
7, 8; 8:11;	WON'T [1]	33:6; 34:16;
13:16; 15:3,	52:14	35:13, 22;
24; 16:1, 9;	WONDERFUL	36:17;
26:22;	[1] 49:11	40:15, 19;
27:10, 20,	WONDERING	41:1, 14, 20;
21; 28:19;	[1] 16:12	42:7, 15, 17,
36:3; 37:7,	WOODS [1]	24; 43:11,
21, 23;	6:12	12, 20;
38:1; 42:12;	WORDED [1]	44:1, 13;
44:18, 24;	13:6	48:20;
45:18;	WORDS [2]	
46:23, 25;	22:12; 58:8	51:4, 11, 14;
47:5, 10, 14,	WORK [11]	52:4; 56:11,
		13, 16, 20,
	9:10, 14; 11:22;	25; 57:2, 8 <b>WOULDN'T</b>
	13:13, 16;	[1] 34:25
	31:16; 32:1;	
53:11; 55:1,		[2] 52:4, 6
	WORKER'S	WRONG [2]
	[2] 8:4;	11:8; 30:11
17	9:24	WRONGFUL
WILSON [1]		[1] 12:22
47:25		

WRONGFULL **Y** [1] 7:19 WROTE [2] 9:1; 17:12

# - Y -

**YEAR** [10] 29:12; 30:5, 13; 32:6; 49:16; 50:8; 53:19, 22; 56:10, 18 YEARS [2] 52:25; 54:6 **YOUR** [6] 3:20; 16:17; 26:7; 42:6; 47:13; 56:25

# - Z -

**ZERO** [2] 36:15; 37:19 ZIONSVILLE [1] 58:6